From THE DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES DANDERYD HOSPITAL Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

CLINICAL STUDIES OF GLUCOSE VARIABILITY AND HYPOGLYCEMIA IN ADULT PATIENTS WITH TYPE 1 DIABETES

Joakim Bragd



Stockholm 2011

All previously published papers were reproduced with the permission of the publisher.

Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by [name of printer]

© Joakim Bragd, 2011 ISBN [ISBN] "You have brains in your head. You have feet in your shoes. You can steer yourself in any direction you choose. You're on your own. And you know what you know. You are the guy who'll decide where to go."

Dr. Seuss, 1904 to 1991

To Irene and David

ABSTRACT

Diabetes mellitus type 1 is a condition characterized by elevated blood glucose values due to impaired insulin production. This condition is associated with increased morbidity from microand macrovascular complications. Studies have shown that lowering blood glucose reduces the incidence of these complications. However, the question of whether glycemic variability is an independent risk factor for the development of microvascular complications remains. Studies I and **II** were retrospective observational studies performed on the same cohort of patients; it consisted of 100 patients who were randomly selected from 442 consecutive type 1 diabetic patients who attended our out-patient clinic. Standard deviation of blood glucose (SDBG) was calculated from 70 measurements over a period of 4 weeks. The onset and progression of microand macrovascular complications were recorded from 1990 to 2001. HbA1c values were recorded from 1985 to 2001. HbA1c variability was measured as the SD of collected HbA1c values. The prevalence of complications increased over time from 1990 to 2001. The prevalence of neuropathy increased from 29% to 47%. Statistical analysis showed that HbA_{1c} was an independent predictor of the incidence (p = 0.004) and the prevalence (p = 0.01) of nephropathy. SDBG was found to be a predictor of the prevalence of peripheral neuropathy (p = 0.03) and showed borderline significance for the incidence of peripheral neuropathy (p = 0.07). The variability of HbA1c was found to be an independent factor that contributes to the development of microvascular complications. (p=0.019). We conclude that the short-term variability of blood glucose may be of importance for the development of peripheral neuropathy and that nerve tissue might be particularly vulnerable and we also conclude that the variability of HbA1c may be of importance for the development of microvascular complications. Study **III** was an open, randomized, cross-over trial in 15 type 1 diabetes patients to compare glucose control assessed by a continuous glucose monitoring system (CGMS) Gold during basal insulin substitution with either a continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII) or glargine. Comparing CSII with glargine revealed that the mean blood glucose was lower with CSII, 9.11 vs. 10.31 (p=0.002). There was an average of 1.3 more episodes of values below 3.5 mmol/l with CSII (p=0.053). There were no significant differences in glucose variability measured as SDPG or the mean amplitude of glucose excursions (MAGE), although significantly longer periods of glucose values were spent within the target of 4.5-10.0 mmol/l with CSII (p=0.034). CSII provided superior glucose control compared with glargine, with lower mean blood glucose at longer periods of glucose values within target and a lower HbA1c with a somewhat smaller insulin dose (n.s). However, there was no significant difference with respect to glucose variability. Study IV was an observational study of the prevalence of severe hypoglycemia (SH) in relation to risk factors in type 1 diabetic patients over a period of 14 years, 1984 to 1998. To investigate the problem of SH, we performed a cross-sectional survey of a cohort of 178 patients registered at our out-patient clinic in 1984 to be repeated in 1998. An identical questionnaire was sent to the patients at the beginning of 1985 and 1999 respectively, regarding the problem of SH in the preceding year. The use of multiple insulin injection therapy had increased from 71% to 98% (p<0.001) and the daily self-monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG) from 17% to 48% (p<0.001), between 1984 and 1998. An increasing number of patients reported unawareness of hypoglycemia, 54% vs. 40% (p<0.01), and nocturnal events were more frequent, 83% vs. 76% (p<0.05). The prevalence of SH had increased from 17% to 27% (p<0.05) and there was a slight decrease in HbA1c, 7.6% to 7.4% (p<0.05). In spite of the more frequent use of multiple injection therapy and more frequent SMBG, the prevalence of SH increased by more than 50% over 14 years, 1984 to 1998.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

 I. I Can glycaemic variability, as calculated from blood glucose self-monitoring, predict the development of complications in type 1 diabetes over a decade?
Bragd J, Adamson U, Bäcklund LB, Lins PE, Moberg E, Oskarsson, P, *Diabetes Metab.* 2008 Dec; 34(6 Pt 1):612-6. Epub 2008 Sep 27.

II Can HbA1c variability contribute to the development of microvascular complications in type 1 diabetes? Bragd J, Adamson U, Lins PE, and Oskarsson P, (Manuscript)

III <u>Basal insulin substitution with glargine or continuous subcutaneous insulin</u> <u>infusion in adult type 1 diabetes patients-a randomized controlled trial.</u> Bragd J, von Döbeln A, Lins PE, Adamson U, Bergström J, Oskarsson P, *Diabetes Technol Ther*. 2010 Sep; 12(9):689-93.

IV <u>A repeated cross-sectional survey of severe hypoglycaemia in 178 Type 1</u> <u>diabetes mellitus patients performed in 1984 and 1998.</u> Bragd J, Adamson U, Lins PE, Wredling R, Oskarsson P, *Diabet Med.* 2003 Mar; 20(3):216-9.

Reprints were made with the permission of the publishers.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 I	INTRODUCTION			
2 E	BACKGROUND	3		
2.1	PATHOGENESIS OF DIABETIC MICROANGIOPATHY			
2.1.1	1 Metabolic Alterations			
2.1.2	2 Hemodynamic Changes			
2.1.3	3 Disturbances in Hemostasis			
2.2	MONITORING GLYCEMIC CONTROL	4		
2.2.1	1 Historical Perspectives			
2.2.2	2 SMBG (Self-monitoring of Blood Glucose) in Clinical Practice			
2.2.3	3 How to Assess Glucose Variability	6		
2.2.4	4 Continuous Glucose Monitoring	7		
2.3	GLYCOSYLATED HEMOGLOBIN (HbA1c)	9		
2.3.1	1 Glycosylation	9		
2.3.2	2 HbA1c in Clinical Practice	9		
2.4	INSULIN TREATMENT IN PATIENTS WITH TYPE 1 DIABETES			
2.4.1	1 Historical Aspects			
2.4.2	2 Physiological and Pharmacological Aspects			
2.4.3	3 Multiple Injection Therapy			
2.4.4	Insulin Pump Treatment (continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion, CSII)			
2.5	HYPOGLYCEMIA AND TYPE 1 DIABETES			
2.5.1	1 Biochemical Definitions of Hypoglycemia			
2.5.2	2 Clinical Definitions of Hypoglycemia			
2.5.3	3 Frequency of Hypoglycemia			
2.5.4	4 Causes of Hypoglycemia			
2.5.5	5 Impaired Awareness of Hypoglycemia			
2.5.6	6 Risk Factors for Severe Hypoglycemia			
3 A	AIMS	16		
4 N	MATERIAL METHODS	17		
4.1	BACKGROUND POPULATION	17		
4.2	METHODS			
4.2.1	Patients and Methods in Paper 1			
4.2.2	2 Patients and Methods in Paper 2			
4.2.3	3 Patients and Methods in Paper 3			
4.2.4	4 Patients and Methods in Paper 4			
4.2.5	5 Questionnaire used in Thesis			

5	STATISTICAL ANALYSES	22
5.1	PAPER 1	22
5.2	PAPER 2	22
5.3	PAPER 3	22
5.4	PAPER 4	22
6	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	23
6.1	IS VARIABILITY OF BLOOD GLUCOSE IMPORTANT?	23
6.2 VAI	IS LONG-TERM LIABILITY OF GLYCEMIC CONTROL, AS DETERMINED BY THE RIABILITY OF HBA1C, RELATED TO DIABETIC COMPLICATIONS?	24
6.3 PR(DOES BASAL INSULIN SUBSTITUTION THERAPY WITH CSII GENERATE GLUCOSE OFILES THAT ARE "SUPERIOR" TO THOSE ACHIEVED WITH INSULIN GLARGINE?	26
6.4	WHAT HAS THE USE OF MULTIPLE INJECTION THERAPY AND SMBG MEANT FOR TI	HE
PRI	EVALENCE OF SEVERE HYPOGLYCEMIA IN CLINICAL PRACTICE?	27
7	CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	29
7.1	CONCLUSIONS PAPER 1	29
7.2	CONCLUSIONS PAPER 2	29
7.3	CONCLUSIONS PAPER 3	29
7.4	CONCLUSIONS PAPER 4	29
7.5	FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	30
8	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	31
9	REFERENCES	. 33

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADA	=	American Diabetes Association
AGE	=	advanced glycosylation end products
AUC	=	area under the curve
b-glucose	=	blood glucose
BMI	=	body mass index
CNS	=	central nervous system
CSII	=	continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion
CGMS	=	continuous glucose monitoring system
CGS	=	continuous glucose sensor
CV	=	coefficient of variation
DCCT	=	Diabetes Control and Complication Trial
e.g.	=	exempli gratia (for example)
EV	=	emergency room visit(s)
GI	=	gastrointestinal
GV	=	glucose variability
HbA1c	=	glycosylated hemoglobin A1c
HPLC	=	high performance liquid chromatography
i.e.	=	id est (that is)
i.m.	=	intramuscular
i.v.	=	intravenous(ly)
MAGE	=	mean amplitude of glycemic excursion
MIME	=	mean indices of meal excursions
MODD	=	mean of daily differences
NDR	=	National Diabetes Registry
LBGI	=	low blood glucose index
p-glucose	=	plasma glucose
PKC	=	protein kinase C
s.c.	=	subcutaneous
SD	=	standard deviation
SDBG	=	standard deviation of blood glucose
SDPG	=	standard deviation of plasma glucose
SDIS	=	Stockholm Diabetes Intervention Study
SH	=	severe hypoglycemia
SEM	=	standard error of mean
SMBG	=	self-monitoring of blood glucose
SMPG	=	self-monitoring of plasma glucose
VAS	=	visual analog scale

1 INTRODUCTION

In spite of the fact that treatment with insulin for patients with type 1 diabetes has been available since the early 1920s and that a relationship between hyperglycemia and the progression of diabetic micro-angiopathy was demonstrated in the 1970s (Pirart, Lauvaux et al. 1978), it was not until the 1990s that proof of a protective effect by good glycemic control on long-term diabetic complications was obtained (Reichard, Berglund et al. 1991), (DCCT 1993). The risk of the onset/progression of angiopathy was thus reduced by 50-75% in intensively treated patients over a time period of 8-10 years in the Diabetes Control and Complication Trial (DCCT) study. Notably, this effect was demonstrable for retinopathy, nephropathy and also neuropathy. The results of the DCCT study were interpreted as indicating that, regardless of the level of HbA1c at entry to the study, a similar reduction was required to obtain a 50% reduction in the risk in the intensively treated group of patients (Nathan, Cleary et al. 2005). Consequently, the most beneficial effects on diabetic complications were registered among patients with the highest initial levels of HbA1c being at the highest risk. More recent analyses have indicated that intensive insulin therapy in itself may reduce the risk of complications to some extent, beyond its effect on HbA1c, and this has raised the issue of whether the variability in glycemia may play a role in the pathophysiological process underlying the development of microangiopathy (Service and O'Brien 2001).

In the DCCT study and in the SDIS trial (Reichard, Berglund et al. 1991), it was observed that the incidence of severe hypoglycemia increased markedly when intensive treatment with the object of attaining near-normoglycemia was instituted. Hypoglycemia is a common acute complication of insulin therapy in subjects with type 1 diabetes. Severe events of hypoglycemia occur annually among approximately 30% of these patients and hypoglycemic coma is believed to affect 10% a year. The risk of severe hypoglycemia, defined as an event which requires third-party assistance, is known to be particularly high in subjects who display the phenomenon of unawareness of hypoglycemia, i.e. who fail to recognize impending low blood glucose. To summarize, problems related to hypoglycemia are most likely underestimated in clinical practice and hypoglycemia remains a major therapeutic problem causing considerable fear among patients and relatives (Anderbro, Amsberg et al. 2010).

The self-monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG) became widely available for diabetic patients in Sweden in 1981, when it was provided free of charge. A novel instrument to assist patients to optimize insulin therapy and to help detect impending hypoglycemia was thus made widely available. Furthermore, in the 1980s, portable insulin infusion pumps for continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion were introduced on the market, along with the implementation of multiple injection therapy as standard care. At a later stage, short- and long-acting insulin analogs were introduced to help improve these treatment regimens. On the one hand, many patients with type 1 diabetes witness marked improvements in their quality of life with multiple injection therapy, while, on the other, recent data from the Swedish National Diabetes Registry (NDR 2009) demonstrate that only a minority of patients obtain the level of glycemic control which has been put forward as a general target by the National Board of Health and Welfare (Socialstyrelsen Riktlinjer 2009). Over time, it has been increasingly acknowledged that SMBG on a 4-7 times daily basis fails to disclose many hypoglycemic events, in particular at night, and that the optimization of basal insulin substitution with long-acting analogs is unable to mimic the

diurnal variation in plasma insulin seen in non-diabetics. Portable glucose sensors may provide an adjuvant to insulin therapy in this respect.

2 BACKGROUND

2.1 PATHOGENESIS OF DIABETIC MICROANGIOPATHY

The pathophysiology of diabetic micro-angiopathy, i.e. retinopathy, nephropathy and neuropathy, is multifactorial, but long-term hyperglycemia appears to play a crucial role (Pirart, Lauvaux et al. 1978). Individual differences in the susceptibility to respond to the metabolic derangements suggest that genetic and environmental factors may also be of importance. Changes in the microvascular wall, circulating blood components and hemodynamic control are also regarded as important in this context (Parving, Viberti et al. 1983), (Zatz and Brenner 1986), (Deckert, Feldt-Rasmussen et al. 1989).

2.1.1 Metabolic Alterations

Hyperglycemia appears to be toxic for endothelial cells (Lorenzi, Toledo et al. 1987), but its effect can be difficult to distinguish from those of concomitant biochemical processes. The increased metabolism of glucose by the polyol pathway results in the intracellular accumulation of sorbitol and it was previously anticipated that this caused an osmotic disturbance subsequently generating cell damage. More recent observations suggest, however, that concentrations of sorbitol obtained in association with chronic hyperglycemia are too low to exert osmotic effects at cellular level. In fact, the increased metabolism of glucose via the sorbitol pathway may induce biochemical alterations, which induce increased oxidative stress and cell damage (Chung, Ho et al. 2003).

Clinical trials with aldose-reductase inhibitors have, however, failed to document beneficial effects on retinopathy. The formation of non-enzymatic advanced glycosylation end products (AGE) is enhanced in diabetes and results in accumulation in blood vessels and glomeruli (Mullarkey C.J 1994). AGE may modify circulating plasma proteins binding to endothelial cells, thereby causing cellular damage. Furthermore, the production of protein kinase C (PKC) is increased in diabetes and it is assumed that this may affect factors such as blood flow, capillary permeability, angiogenesis and even inflammatory responses (Geraldes and King 2010).

2.1.2 Hemodynamic Changes

Hemodynamic changes to consider in diabetic patients are increasing blood flow, capillary pressure and vascular permeability (Tooke 1989, Parving et al. 1983, Zatz et al. 1986, Bollinger et al. 1982). All these functional changes appear to be linked to organ failure in susceptible tissues causing clinically relevant conditions, e.g. visual loss and renal failure. Although the relationship between functional changes and changes in the vasculature remains unclear, they may have some pathogenic mechanisms in common (Tooke et al. 1994). Increased basal blood flow early in diabetic life has been demonstrated in the kidney (Ditzel et al. 1972), retina (Kohner et al. 1975) and limbs (Gundersen 1974) and the increased microvascular leakage in diabetic patients may be due to an overperfused vascular bed and raised capillary blood pressure (Rayman et al. 1985). When diabetes progresses and clinical complications become evident, maximum tissue perfusion and vascular autoregulation are generally impaired in many organs as a result of structural abnormalities of the vascular tree (Faris et al. 1982, Newrick et al. 1988).

2.1.3 Disturbances in Hemostasis

Abnormalities in blood viscosity have been described in diabetes, partly as a result of increased levels of plasma fibrinogen, the increased generation of thrombin and the activation of platelets

(Jokl et al. 1997, Jax et al. 2009). The increased production of PKC, well described in diabetes, stimulates the production of plasminogen-activator-inhibitor-1, which inhibits the activation of plasminogen, leading to reduced fibrinolytic capacity (Geraldes et al. 2010). Most studies of fibrinolytic functions in diabetes have been performed in type 2 diabetic patients. In contrast, however, there is at least one study which actually found that the fibrinolytic capacity was increased in subjects with type 1 diabetes (Walmsley et al. 1991).

2.2 MONITORING GLYCEMIC CONTROL

2.2.1 Historical Perspectives

In the years immediately before the introduction of insulin treatment, it was demonstrated that the blood glucose concentration of healthy individuals was fairly constant under average conditions of diet and exercise. It was thus established by Rolly and Oppermann in 1913 that, in normal subjects, the fasting plasma glucose concentration ranged between 78 and 107 mg/dl and that it was somewhat lower for whole blood including corpuscles. During the years following the introduction of insulin, the methods of blood glucose determination were further developed with the aim of obtaining less time-consuming methods, but it was found in parallel that wide differences in blood sugar values of up to 30 mg/dl were observed with the methods that were applied. In the early 1930s, methods using zinc or ferric hydroxide, whereby the red cells remained intact and the filtrate was thus unaffected by non-fermentable, non-glucose substances were regarded as giving true glucose values for human blood (Herbert and Bourne 1930). One of these methods was further modified in the 1940s when an arsenomolybdate color reagent was substituted for the measurement of reduced copper (Nelson 1944). In the 1950s, enzymatic glucose-specific methods were introduced of which the glucose oxidase method has become the most widely used in current practice (Raabo and Terkildsen 1960). In this method, the determination of glucose is based on two reactions and the intensity of the color that forms is proportional to the glucose concentration in the specimen. The first report of a biosensor for glucose in which the enzyme reaction takes place in close contact with a transducer was presented in the early 1960s (Clark and Eyzaguirre 1962). The first reagent strip was introduced on the market in 1964 and soon thereafter the first reflectance meter for reading the results became available. Finally, in 1981, the self-monitoring of blood glucose became available on a larger scale when the test strips became free of charge in Sweden.

2.2.2 SMBG (Self-monitoring of Blood Glucose) in Clinical Practice

Since it was difficult to quantify the concentration of glucose in urine or blood until the 1960s, the diagnosis was mainly based on clinical symptoms such as thirst and increased volumes of urine. The first tool which came into use in clinical practice for glucose control was urine strips. The patient was asked to bring a urine sample and it was subsequently tested with a strip; the darker the color, the higher the concentration of glucose. Urine glucose was, however, in itself not sufficient to make a reliable assessment of the patient's glucose levels.

With the introduction of portable glucose home meters for daily glucose control, it was possible for the first time with adequate safety to optimize insulin doses and to check the patient's metabolic control.

SMBG is designed to supply patients and health professionals with reliable information on the patient's glycemic control. It is recommended that SMBG should be carried out three or more times daily for patients using multiple insulin injections or insulin pump therapy (ADA Standards of medical care in diabetes 2011). In a multicenter study, Schütt et al. in 2006 describe the relationship between the number of SMBG and HbA1c lowering. In this material, every extra SMBG test resulted in a reduction in HbA1c of 0.32% in type 1 diabetic patients with MDI

or CSII (Schutt, Kern et al. 2006). The SMBG values before dinner and in the evening correlate better with HbA1c than fasting values or values before lunch (DCCT 1993).

It is important that blood glucose meters have adequate safety and reliability in order satisfactorily to measure glucose levels. Unfortunately, different values will be obtained if various meters are tested at the same time. In the area of high blood glucose, this has a minor clinical impact, but, in the lower range of blood glucose, it could be of major importance. Over the years, manufacturers have improved glucose meters considerably. Other pitfalls when testing blood glucose are more patient related – for example, after eating a sweet fruit and getting juice on the fingers, not enough blood on the test strip, cold fingers and so on. However, more facts to consider are the change from blood glucose to plasma glucose. Glucose values assessed as plasma glucose are 11% higher than blood glucose values.

When measuring glucose, accuracy can be defined by comparison with a standard method, isotope dilution mass spectrometry. However, it is rare to determine the technical accuracy of glucose meters against the standard isotope dilution mass spectrometry method. Normally, the accuracy of a glucose meter is assessed by comparison with the routine method used in the clinical laboratory. To assess the clinical accuracy of a glucose meter, one method is to use the error grid analysis.

Clark's error grid for estimating the accuracy of SMBG.



The accuracy and error of error grid analysis are categorized into zones of accuracy. Zone A, clinically accurate (leading to correct, safe treatment decisions); zone B, benign errors (blood glucose values outside present precision tolerances (usually within 20% of reference) but probably not resulting in deleterious decision making); zone C, overcorrection errors (result outside target range when reference is within target range, leading to treatment decisions that could result in blood glucose values outside the target range); zone D, failure to detect (high or low blood glucose) errors (resulting in failure to treat either low or high blood glucose results appropriately); and zone E, erroneous errors (blood glucose values directly opposite to reference values leading to treatment decisions opposite to those needed). (Clarke, Cox et al. 1987; Clarke, Anderson et al. 2005).

2.2.3 How to Assess Glucose Variability

Several factors are of importance in validating a patient's glucose variability. It should be a true measure of blood glucose fluctuations from a statistical point of view. Constant high or low blood glucose levels should not lead to a high variability score, but extremes must also be taken into consideration when assessing the patient. Another important factor is the time sequence, i.e. the intra-day variation compared with variations over longer periods of time, weeks or months. In recent years, the continuous glucose monitoring system has become a new and important method for assessing glycemic variation. The CGM system gives the clinician an opportunity to assess the variability during both the day and night.

Specific mathematical methods have been developed to evaluate glycemic variations. They include the M value (Schlichtkrull, Munck et al. 1965), the mean amplitude of glucose excursion (MAGE) (Service, Molnar et al. 1970), day-to-day glycemic variations or excursions (MODD) (Molnar, Taylor et al. 1972), meal-related glycemic excursions (MIME) and the low blood glucose index (LBGI) (Selam 2000). The M value measures the deviation from a given standard and takes special consideration of hypoglycemic values. Since the M value does not measure the true glucose variability, constantly high as well as low glucose levels will result in a high M value. The MAGE, on the other hand, was originally calculated from continuous blood glucose monitoring over 48 h and measures glucose variations exceeding one standard deviation (SD) of all values. However, since the SD differs from patient to patient, the level that is regarded as significant will differ. On the other hand, MAGE gives more weight to clinically important extremes (Service, O'Brien et al. 1987). The MODD is an index of day-to-day variability and measures the absolute difference between glucose values recorded at corresponding times of the day on two consecutive days. MIME measures mean indices of meal excursions and the LGBI measures the risk of severe hypoglycemia.

All these methods are, however, relatively laborious. In contrast, the standard deviation of blood glucose (SDBG) is an easily available glucose index, which has been used extensively to identify significant glycemic characteristics in clinical trials during the past decade and virtually all current glycemic control software features calculations of standard deviation (SD). One limitation of SD that has been put forward is that it is calculated from all measurements, including both minor and major variations, and therefore gives less weight to the extremes and the sequence of the values.

In a previous study, we have shown that SDBG measurements are highly reproducible (r = 0.90, p < 0.0001) when assessed over a period of 12 months (Moberg, Kollind et al. 1993). Studies have also documented that SDBG is not related to the HbA_{1c} level (Derr, Garrett et al. 2003). Since SDBG is easily obtained, it has been recommended (Monnier, Colette et al. 2008) as a measurement of glucose variability. A study by Baghurst et al. revealed that, in patients with type 1 diabetes, glucose variability (GV), as measured by SD or CONGA4, becomes unreliable if observations are more than 2-4 h apart and estimates of MAGE become unreliable if glucose measurements are more than 1 h apart.(Baghurst, Rodbard et al. 2010).

CGMS MiniMed Gold curve



2.2.4 Continuous Glucose Monitoring

The development of CGMS provides an instrument with which an analysis of glucose profiles over 24 hours can be performed. The obvious advantage of CGMS over the self-monitoring of plasma glucose (SMPG) is the opportunity to monitor nocturnal profiles of glucose and also the true variability of the glucose profile. The first device to be approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and to be made available for clinical use was the Continuous Monitoring System (CGMS) (Medtronic Minimed, Northridge, CA). This is a sensor system designed continuously to monitor interstitial fluid glucose. The sensor is a microelectrode that is inserted in the subcutaneous tissue and generates an electronic signal. The strength of the electronic signal is proportional to the amount of glucose in the surrounding interstitial fluid. It measures glucose levels between 2.2 mmol/l and 22.2 mmol/l. The system generates 288 readings every 24 hours. The system is "blinded" to the patient and can therefore only be used as a retrospective tool for assessing the glucose profile of the patient. The system has to be calibrated 3-4 times every 24 hours. The system has been promoted and used as a tool to evaluate overnight glucose monitoring to detect nighttime hypoglycemia (Chase, Kim et al. 2001), (Boland, Monsod et al. 2001). In these studies, however, there were no confirmatory meter readings. A study from 2002 performed by McGowan et al. compared simultaneously measured glucose values with a glucose analyzer, the Accu-Check Advantage meter, and a CGMS when assessing nighttime hypoglycemia. The authors drew the conclusion that CGMS reports of asymptomatic nighttime hypoglycemia may be spurious and should be interpreted with caution in patients with tightly controlled diabetes (McGowan, Thomas et al. 2002). Since then, a second-generation device has been developed by Medtronic, the CGMS Gold. In our study group, we have used the CGMS Gold as a tool to evaluate glucose variability and other measurements of glucose control.(Bragd, von Dobeln et al. 2010). We will also use this device in a future study, where we will assess glucose variability in a randomized, placebo-controlled, cross-over study with the drug domperidone.

CGMS MiniMed Gold



In recent years, devices for "real-time" continuous glucose monitoring have been introduced as a tool to achieve improved overall glycemic control. Several CGSs have the ability to measure and transmit real-time blood glucose values to the patient and/or to warn of impending hypo/hyperglycemia with audible alarms. "Real-time" CGSs have been shown to improve HbA1c in patients with type 1 diabetes. (Deiss, Bolinder et al. 2006), (Beck, Hirsch et al. 2009), (Tamborlane, Beck et al. 2008), (O'Connell, Donath et al. 2009). In a study performed by Battelino et al. published in 2011, it was shown that "real-time" continuous glucose monitoring was associated with reduced time spent in hypoglycemia and a concomitant decrease in HbA1c in children and adults with type 1 diabetes under very tight control. (Battelino, Phillip et al. 2011). In this study, they used the FreeStyle Navigator (Abbott Diabetes Care). Like the CGMS (Medtronic Minimed, Northridge, CA), the FreeStyle system also measures the glucose in interstitial fluid. In clinical practice, recommendations from the American Diabetes Association in Standards of Medical Care suggested that continuous glucose monitoring is especially useful in patients with hypoglycemia unawareness and/or frequent episodes of hypoglycemia. In 2011 in Sweden, the governmental agency (TLV) 2 decided that it would not reimburse "real-time" continuous glucose monitoring devices and this decision has stirred up strong feelings among patients and an appeal against the decision has been made in a court of law. At the moment, the decision is on hold. However, the question of whether the patients who would benefit from these devices will be able to get them in the future still arises.

2.3 GLYCOSYLATED HEMOGLOBIN (HbA1c)

2.3.1 Glycosylation

Since the late 1970s, Hba1c has been used indirectly to measure the blood glucose levels of diabetic patients. The sample reflects the mean blood glucose level in the last 4 to 8 weeks. When measuring glycosylated hemoglobin, it is the proportion of hemoglobin molecules that are bound to glucose that is measured. Glucose binds irreversibly to the hemoglobin molecule in a direct relationship with the blood glucose level. Increased average blood glucose leads to a higher HbA1c. Because the binding is irreversible, glucose is connected throughout the life span of the erythrocyte, approximately 120 days. This means that conditions with increased circulation of erythrocytes will result in false low values of HbA1c. Examples of these conditions include thalassemia, hemolytic anemia and bleeding resulting in blood transfusion. False high values of HbA1c are less common, but, if the erythropoiesis stops and there are mainly older erythrocytes in the circulation, which are exposed for longer to glucose, HbA1c might rise (Landin-Olsson, Jeppsson et al. 2010).

The hemoglobin molecule consists of two alpha chains and two beta chains. Glucose binds to all the amino acid, valine, in the beta chain. Glucose can also bind to either valine in an alpha chain or to the amino acid, lysine. The glycosylation process starts with the formation of a Schiff base, when the aldehyde group of a glucose molecule binds with the amino group of a valine molecule. This is a double bond between carbon atoms in the glucose and the nitrogen atom of valine. An Amadori product then forms in which the Schiff base changes its structure. A hydrogen atom in the hydroxyl group moves and binds to the nitrogen atom. Eventually, an irreversible binding is created via oxidation and the glycosylation process is finished. It is the same reaction when advanced glycosylation end products (AGE) are produced. In other words, there are three steps in the complete reaction. The first two steps are reversible, but the last step is irreversible. The whole process is called a Maillard reaction.

2.3.2 HbA1c in Clinical Practice

Initially, it was thought that the HbA1c reflected mean glucose over some 2-3 months (Nathan, Singer et al. 1984). HbA1c is currently thought to reflect mean blood glucose during approximately 4-8 weeks (Berne 2010). How often should HbA1c be tested in patients with type 1 diabetes? The recommendations from the USA and ADA for testing HbA1c are as follows. 1. Perform the HbA1c test at least twice a year in patients who are meeting treatment goals and who have stable glycemic control. 2. Perform the HbA1c test quarterly in patients whose therapy has changed or who are not meeting glycemic goals. 3. The use of points-of-care testing for HbA1c allows for timely decisions on therapy changes, when needed (ADA Standards of medical care in diabetes) (2011). In clinical practice, this means that about 2-4 HbA1c values are recorded by the patients annually when visiting the out-patient clinic at the hospital.

How are things in a Swedish population? At our out-patient clinic at Danderyd Hospital, the patients normally visit the clinic 2-4 times a year, resulting in 2-4 HbA1c tests. Due to the lack of resources in recent years, a standard patient is not able to visit the clinic more than twice a year. We do, however, have an opportunity to collect HbA1c either from the lab where patients go to take the test or when the patient sends a blood sample to the lab by post.

HbA1c can be measured using several methods. There are three different standards in different parts of the world when measuring HbA1c. 1: DCCT (the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial) standard that is managed through the organization known as the National Glycoprotein Standardization Program (NGSP), 2: The Japanese Diabetes Society (JDS/JSCC) standardization and, finally, the Swedish Mono-S method. The NGSP standard is about 0.9% higher than Mono-S. The reference for Mono-S is 3.6-5.2%. Because there have been three standards around the world for HbA1c, it has been difficult to compare studies from different

countries. For years, medical scientists have tried to agree on a standard for the whole world. This has now been successful and, since 1 October 2010, a general standard has been agreed for the whole world. The organization known as the IFCC (International Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine) has succeeded in obtaining this agreement (2007; Nordin 2008; Hanas and John 2010; Little, Rohlfing et al. 2011). The current quality goal for HbA1c among Swedish laboratories is a maximum bias of 0.2% (average deviation in EQUALIS surveys over 6 months) and that individual EQUALIS results should deviate less than 0.4% HbA1c units from the assigned target value (Hanas and John 2010).

B-HbA _{1c} IFCC (mmol/mol)	B-HbA _{1c} NGSP (%)	B-HbA _{ic} Mono S (%)	B-HbA _{1c} IFCC (mmol/mol)	B-HbA1 NGSP (%)
16	3,6	9,0	83	9,8
21	4,1	9,5	89	10,3
26	4,5	10,0	94	10,7
31	5,0	10,5	99	11,2
36	5,5	11,0	104	11,7
42	6,0	11,5	110	12,2
47	6.4	12,0	115	12,7
52	6,9	12,5	120	13,1
57	7.4	13,0	125	13,6
63	7,9	13,5	130	14,1
68	8,4	14,0	136	14,6
73	8,8	14,5	141	15,0
78	9,3	15,0	146	15,5
	B-HbA _{1c} IFCC (mmol/mol) 16 21 26 31 36 42 47 52 57 63 68 73 78	B-HbA _{1c} IFCC B-HbA _{1c} NGSP (%) 16 3,6 21 4,1 26 4,5 31 5,0 36 5,5 42 6,0 47 6,4 52 6,9 57 7,4 63 7,9 68 8,4 73 8,8 78 9,3	B-HbA _{1c} IFCC B-HbA _{1c} NGSP (mol/mol) B-HbA _{1c} Mono S (%) 16 3,6 9,0 21 4,1 9,5 26 4,5 10,0 31 5,0 10,5 36 5,5 11,0 42 6,0 11,5 47 6,4 12,0 52 6,9 12,5 57 7,4 13,0 63 7,9 13,5 68 8,4 14,0 73 8,8 14,5 78 9,3 15,0	B-HbA _{1c} IFCC B-HbA _{1c} NGSP (mmol/mol) B-HbA _{1c} (%) B-HbA _{1c} Mono S B-HbA _{1c} IFCC (mmol/mol) 16 3,6 9,0 83 21 4,1 9,5 89 26 4,5 10,0 94 31 5,0 10,5 99 36 5,5 11,0 104 42 6,0 11,5 110 47 6,4 12,0 115 52 6,9 12,5 120 57 7,4 13,0 125 63 7,9 13,5 130 68 8,4 14,0 136 73 8,8 14,5 141 78 9,3 15,0 146

A table for the conversion of HbA1c to the new IFCC standard now follows.

2.4 INSULIN TREATMENT IN PATIENTS WITH TYPE 1 DIABETES

2.4.1 Historical Aspects

Insulin was discovered by Fredrik Banting, Charles Best and coworkers in 1921. This is regarded as one of the most important discoveries in medical history and the researchers were shortly thereafter awarded the Nobel Prize in Medicine for developing this life-saving treatment for patients with diabetes. The first patient to receive insulin was the fourteen-year-old boy Leonard Thompson. He was injected with insulin on 11 January 1922. It was an immediate success and the news traveled around the world and the pharmaceutical industry started manufacturing insulin preparations so that this treatment became available to a great many patients around the globe. Initially, the insulin was manufactured through extraction from bovine pancreases and insulin was provided as either a powder or a tablet to be mixed with water to form a solution to be injected subcutaneously. In the beginning, these solutions were relatively contaminated. However, through crystallization, the manufacturers were able to improve the quality of their products. In the 1960s, the purification process was further improved by the introduction of chromatography. One downside of water-soluble insulin is that its effect is of relatively short duration. The first available insulin with prolonged effect duration was protaminzinc insulin and the prolonged effect was obtained by slower absorption due to the addition of zinc and protamin to form insulin complexes which had been too large to absorb prior to degradation. The hybrid-DNA process has led to refined products and, as a result, either human insulin or modified insulin analogs are now widely used for the treatment of type 1 diabetes.

2.4.2 Physiological and Pharmacological Aspects

In normal humans, blood glucose is maintained within a narrow range by feedback control mechanisms in which insulin is secreted into the portal vein on a minute-by-minute basis in response to variations in the plasma levels of glucose, nutrients and a series of regulatory factors including gastrointestinal hormones, catecholamines and so on. In patients with type 1 diabetes, treatment with subcutaneously injected or infused insulin gives a poor imitation of the physiological secretion of insulin due to slow and variable insulin absorption rates and a lack of feedback control. Periods of insulin deficiency as well as peripheral hyperinsulinemia are therefore likely to occur with this therapy, with the result that the diabetic patient may experience unpredicted swings in blood glucose. It has been estimated that conventional methods of injecting insulin subcutaneously may explain up to 80% of these unpredicted glycemic swings, since the intra-individual day-to-day variation in insulin absorption rates may be as high as 35% (Lauritzen, Faber et al. 1979), (Binder, Lauritzen et al. 1984). Using shortacting insulin preparations only, e.g. during continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion therapy (CSII), only small subcutaneous depots of insulin are established and this may help to reduce this source of erratic insulin absorption and subsequent glycemic instability (Lauritzen, Pramming et al. 1983).

2.4.3 Multiple Injection Therapy

In the late 1970s, insulin treatment by three daily injections of short-acting insulin before main meals, combined with one daily injection of long-acting insulin, was advocated (Eschwege, Guyot-Argenton et al. 1976). When SMBG became free of charge in Sweden in 1981, this treatment regimen was integrated with regular SMBG to constitute "standard care". It soon became evident that this treatment regimen was very well accepted by diabetes patients, as it offered more freedom with respect to the timing of meals, exercise and so on. Assessments of quality of life among these patients provided convincing evidence to support the concept that these regimens should be put forward as "standard care".

2.4.4 Insulin Pump Treatment (continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion, CSII)

The first report on CSII appeared in the *British Medical Journal* in 1978, when Pickup and coworkers from Guy's Hospital in London presented their experience of a novel technique to infuse insulin continuously into subcutaneous tissue using an external motor-driven syringe pump (Pickup, Keen et al. 1978). The new device provided basal insulin delivery and requirements during meals. The use of insulin pumps in Sweden increased rapidly during the 1980s and 1990s and it is currently estimated that approximately 20% of type 1 diabetes patients are using insulin pumps on a regular basis. It is generally held that CSII, in comparison with multiple injection therapy, results in a modest yet worthwhile improvement in glycated hemoglobin, but its main value may be in reducing other problems such as hypoglycemia (Bode, Steed et al. 1996), the dawn phenomenon and improving quality of life by allowing greater flexibility of lifestyle (Colquitt, Green et al. 2004). An increased risk of ketoacidosis during CSII has been reported and it must certainly be taken into consideration in clinical practice.



Insulin pen compared with an old syringe.



2.5 HYPOGLYCEMIA AND TYPE 1 DIABETES

2.5.1 Biochemical Definitions of Hypoglycemia

When considering the frequency of hypoglycemia in clinical practice, criteria for what constitutes a hypoglycemic event are required. The problem is that, in research into the epidemiology of hypoglycemia, no consensus on common definitions has been employed. The use of a biochemical definition of hypoglycemia, addressing a given blood glucose concentration below which hypoglycemia would be deemed to occur, would seem justified. Unfortunately, and for a number of reasons, it is not possible to define such a precise criterion for hypoglycemia (Service 1995).

Along with a declining blood glucose concentration, a series of events take place at glycemic thresholds that are individually set and may vary depending on the preceding or prevailing glycemic control. At an arterialized blood glucose value of approximately 3.8 mmol/l, counter-regulation is activated and the impairment of cognitive functions then follows at a level between 3.2-2.6 mmol/l. In clinical practice, however, capillary or venous sampling is used and these levels are lower than the arterialized ones (Liu, Adamson et al. 1992). In their clinical practice recommendations, the ADA propose a blood glucose value of 3.9 mmol/l to represent hypoglycemia (ADA Workgroup on Hypoglycemia), while Diabetes UK gives recommendations to patients with diabetes to ensure that their blood glucose does not fall below 4 mmol/l (Holt 2011).

2.5.2 Clinical Definitions of Hypoglycemia

In the absence of a biochemical definition of hypoglycemia, clinical definitions based on symptomatology have been adopted. Since symptoms of hypoglycemia are not specific evidence of biochemical hypoglycemia, they have to be supportive. For this reason, hypoglycemia is usually defined as an episode in which typical symptoms occur and the symptoms are reversed by treatment to raise blood glucose. In this way, *asymptomatic hypoglycemia* is defined as low blood glucose identified at routine testing with no associated symptoms, *mild symptomatic hypoglycemia* as symptoms suggestive of hypoglycemia successfully treated by the patient alone and *severe hypoglycemia* as an event where assistance from a third party was required to effect treatment. Finally, the term *profound hypoglycemia* is used to describe an event associated with permanent neurological deficits or death.

2.5.3 Frequency of Hypoglycemia

Most episodes of hypoglycemia occur at home, at work or during leisure activities and the subsequent recall of these episodes by patients is generally poor, particularly with regard to mild hypoglycemia. Against this background, it is obvious that data obtained prospectively have a strong advantage over those reported in retrospective studies. Moreover, the presence of an impaired awareness of hypoglycemia, the quality of glycemic control and the nature of the population of patients that is studied have to be kept in mind when comparing figures presented by different research groups.

It is worth noting, for example, that mild hypoglycemia frequencies between 8 (Leckie, Graham et al. 2005) and 160 (Janssen, Snoek et al. 2000) episodes per patient and year have been presented.

Severe hypoglycemia is generally held to be a more robust end-point than mild hypoglycemia and, against this background, retrospective recall is felt to be much more reliable. For example, Pedersen-Bjergaard reported that 90% of subjects correctly recalled their experience of severe hypoglycemia from the preceding year (Pedersen-Bjergaard, Pramming et al. 2004). Frequencies of severe hypoglycemia, defined as above, in adults with type 1 diabetes, reported between 1991 and 2005, vary from 0.98 (Leckie, Graham et al. 2005) to 1.6 (MacLeod, Hepburn et al. 1993) episodes/patient/year, while the corresponding figures for proportion affected vary from 3% (Pramming, Thorsteinsson et al. 1991) to 41% (ter Braak, Appelman et al. 2000).

2.5.4 Causes of Hypoglycemia

Hypoglycemia in people with type 1 diabetes results from an imbalance between insulinmediated glucose efflux from the blood stream and the amount entering the circulation from the liver or from ingested carbohydrate. In principle, the causes of hypoglycemia can be attributed to inappropriate insulin injection, inadequate exogenous carbohydrate intake, increased carbohydrate utilization, increased insulin sensitivity and a reduction in endogenous glucose production or insulin clearance (Cryer, Davis et al. 2003). In clinical practice, these causes correspond to the excessive dosing or inappropriate timing of insulin, missed meals, exercise, nocturnal rest, excessive alcohol consumption and renal failure.

2.5.5 Impaired Awareness of Hypoglycemia

Back in the early era of insulin therapy, it was observed that dangerous hypoglycemia may occur without warning symptoms (Joslin 1924).

The mechanisms underlying this impaired awareness or unawareness of hypoglycemia are not known and may be multifactorial. In principle, chronic exposure to low blood glucose will evoke an *adaptation of the central nervous system* to hypoglycemia which is clinically fairly evident in diabetic patients under strict glycemic control (Boyle, Kempers et al. 1995) and which is frequently observed in insulinoma patients. (Mitrakou, Fanelli et al. 1993). Notably, when impaired awareness of hypoglycemia results from strict metabolic control in type 1 diabetic patients, this can usually be reversed by the scrupulous avoidance of hypoglycemia based on frequent blood glucose monitoring.

Other mechanisms that may cause impaired awareness of hypoglycemia and have been disclosed are CNS glucoregulatory failure due either to *counter-regulatory deficiency* or to hypoglycemia-associated *autonomic failure*(Cryer 1992), as well as the dysfunction of the peripheral nervous system, clinically known as peripheral *autonomic neuropathy* (Hoeldtke, Boden et al. 1982). Reduced *peripheral adrenoceptor sensitivity* has also been considered in this context.

For many years, clinicians have recognized that patients with a long duration of diabetes require lower blood glucose to provoke a symptomatic response. In 1941, Lawrence wrote that "as years of insulin life go on, sometimes only after 5-10 years I find it almost the rule that the type of insulin reaction changes, the premonitory autonomic symptoms are missed out and the patient proceeds directly to the more serious manifestations affecting the central nervous system". Clearly, the prevalence of impaired awareness of hypoglycemia or hypoglycemia unawareness increases with the duration of insulin-treated diabetes (Hepburn, Patrick et al. 1990) so that almost 50% of patients experience hypoglycemia without warning symptoms after 25 years of treatment (Pramming, Thorsteinsson et al. 1991) and hypoglycemia unawareness could therefore be recognized as an acquired abnormality associated with insulin therapy.

2.5.6 Risk Factors for Severe Hypoglycemia

It is a common clinical observation that it is often not possible to identify the precipitating cause of an episode of hypoglycemia, even though there was third-party involvement in its treatment. In some studies, figures as high as 40% have been reported (Potter et al. 1982) to illustrate this problem. It has therefore been increasingly recognized that it is necessary to look beyond conventional precipitating factors and to consider other phenomena of possible importance. Epidemiological studies and randomized controlled trials have demonstrated that *intensive therapy* (DCCT (1997), (Reichard, Toomingas et al. 1994), *low HbA1c* (EURODIAB (1994), (Bott, Bott et al. 1997), (Pedersen-Bjergaard, Pramming et al. 2004), *a previous episode* (MacLeod, Hepburn et al. 1993), (Bott, Bott et al. 1997), (Gold, Frier et al. 1997), (Muhlhauser, Overmann et al. 1998), *C-peptide negativity* (Muhlhauser, Overmann et al. 1998), (Pedersen-Bjergaard, Agerholm-Larsen et al. 2001), *age* (Gold, Frier et al. 1997), (Leese, Wang et al. 2003), *insulin dose* (ter Braak, Appelman et al. 2000) and *ACE activity* (Pedersen-Bjergaard, Agerholm-Larsen et al. 2001), (Pedersen-Bjergaard, Agerholm-Larsen et al. 2003) are risk factors to be considered, along with *impaired awareness* and *duration of diabetes*, documented in a number of studies in recent years.

Sleep impairs both the physiological and behavioral responses to hypoglycemia and it is generally held that *nocturnal episodes* of hypoglycemia often fulfill the criteria of a severe event. Currently, in clinical practice, the development of strategies to reduce the risk of nocturnal hypoglycemia is clearly an area on which to focus.

The incidence of severe hypoglycemia was reported as being higher in patients with *impaired renal function* (Muhlhauser, Toth et al. 1991), (Pedersen-Bjergaard, Pramming et al. 2004), (ter Braak, Appelman et al. 2000). This association could, however, be confounded by many factors, such as acquired hypoglycemia syndromes and concomitant drug therapy, and a similar comment has been made about the recent suggestion that *smoking* is a risk factor for severe hypoglycemia (Pedersen-Bjergaard, Pramming et al. 2004).

Socioeconomic status (Muhlhauser, Overmann et al. 1998), *low mood* (Gonder-Frederick, Clarke et al. 1997) and an individual's attitude towards carrying *a supply of carbohydrate* (Bott, Bott et al. 1997) have also been put forward as being of importance, in line with recent data relating to ACE activity, which address the issue of whether a *genetic susceptibility* to hypoglycemia may exist (Pedersen-Bjergaard, Pramming et al. 2004).

3 AIMS

- 1. To ascertain, in type 1 diabetic patients, whether glycemic variability measured as SDBG is an independent risk factor for the development of microvascular complications in addition to average glycemia, as assessed by HbA1c.
- 2. To study whether variability of HbA1c is an independent risk factor for the development of microvascular complications in addition to average glycemia assessed by HbA1c.
- 3. To compare glycemic control during basal insulin substitution with glargine versus CSII through CGMS monitoring.
- 4. To study the prevalence of severe hypoglycemia in relation to its possible risk factors in type 1 diabetic patients over a period of 14 years.

4 MATERIAL METHODS

4.1 BACKGROUND POPULATION

In 1984, the Department of Medicine at Danderyd Hospital had a catchment area comprising approximately 200,000 persons over the age of 15. In 1984, all patients attending the out-patient clinic were registered and the total came to 760 of which 434 were classified, based on clinical criteria, as type 1 diabetic patients. In 1999, 14 years later, the catchment area had expanded and the Department of Medicine was serving approximately 300,000 inhabitants, above the age of 15. All patients registered at the out-patient clinic and classified as type 1 diabetic patients totaled 847 (n=847). In 2005, the catchment area increased from about 400,000 to 560,000 persons above the age of 15. Patients registered at the out-patient clinic and classified as type 1 had increased to 1,118 in 2006.

Since 1996, the out-patient clinic for diabetes at Danderyd Hospital has used a locally developed quality record for clinical evaluation and for exporting data to the NDR. The NDR is a nationwide register for patients with diabetes. Annual reports in the field of diabetes mellitus describe the clinical activity focusing on the type of diabetes, treatment principles, blood glucose control, measured as HbA1c, and other clinically important factors such as blood pressure and blood lipids. The data shown below are one example from the local quality record.

The proportion of patients with type 1 diabetes (n = number of) who are treated with an insulin pump or the proportion treated with insulin analogs in four different years.

	1996 (n=738)	2000 (n=960)	2003 (n=1031)	2006 (n=1118)
CSII	12.5%	12.2%	15.0%	16.7%
Short-acting analog	1.6%	50.9%	72.9%	93.1%
Long-acting analog	N.A	N.A	20.3%	72.8%

4.2 METHODS

4.2.1 Patients and Methods in Paper 1

From 442 consecutive type 1 diabetic patients who attended the diabetes out-patient clinic at Danderyd Hospital in 1990, 142 were randomly selected by date of birth and invited to participate in a study to measure blood glucose variability as determined by frequent capillary blood glucose values obtained through stratified home monitoring. One hundred of these patients agreed to participate in the study and thus formed a cohort in which SDBG was calculated, based on 70 measurements over a period of four weeks. The capillary tests were performed before breakfast, before lunch, before dinner, 1.5 h after dinner and before going to bed every second day for four weeks. The results of this investigation were reported elsewhere in 1994 (Moberg, Lins et al. 1994).

One hundred type 1 diabetic patients were told to measure their capillary blood glucose using the Reflolux[®] II M (Memory) meter before breakfast, before lunch, before dinner, 1.5 h after dinner and before going to bed every two days for four weeks, i.e. a total of 70 measurements. The glucose values, the corresponding insulin doses and the times of injections, together with significant events of daily life, i.e. hypoglycemia, illness and physical exercise, were entered into a diary. On the basis of all the available glucose values recorded during the four-week period, the standard deviation of blood glucose (SDBG) was calculated. The reproducibility of the SDBG was checked by repeating the same SMBG protocol in 20 of the patients after one year.

This group of 100 patients constituted the present study cohort, now re-analyzed after 11 years with respect to established risk factors for the onset and progression of micro- and macroangiopathy, as well as peripheral neuropathy. During the follow-up period, the patients made visits two to four times a year to our out-patient clinic, according to our established clinical protocol.

Diabetic complications were defined and categorized in 1990 as follows. Nephropathy was defined as micro-albuminuria, MA (albumin excretion 30-300 mg/24 h) or albuminuria (albumin excretion exceeding 300 mg/24 h). Retinopathy was defined as proliferative diabetic retinopathy as determined by an expert in our research team using a blinded procedure. Peripheral neuropathy was defined as sensory neuropathy indicated by pathologic thresholds as revealed by neurometry and/or a vibration test with a tuning fork and mono-filament testing, Autonomic neuropathy was defined as the clinical diagnosis of erectile disturbance, bladder dysfunction, orthostatic hypotension or gastroparesis. Unawareness of hypoglycemia was defined as a documented plasma glucose value of < 3.0 mmol/L without the ability to perceive symptoms of hypoglycemia. Macro-angiopathy was defined as blood pressure of > 140/85 and/or ongoing antihypertensive therapy, a clinical diagnosis of angina pectoris, intermittent claudication, myocardial infarction (MI) and/or cerebrovascular accident (CVA).

Clinical data, including medical history, diabetic complications, blood pressure, laboratory tests and pharmaceutical therapy, were extracted from each patient's medical file. HbA_{1c} was measured by liquid chromatographic assay (reference value for healthy subjects < 5.2%).

4.2.2 Patients and Methods in Paper 2

The same group of patients as in Paper 1 was included in this evaluation in which the onset and progression of micro- and macro-angiopathy, as well as peripheral neuropathy, were analyzed in relation to HbA1c and variability of HbA1c. Diabetic complications were defined and clinical

data were retrieved as in Paper 1. In all, 3,855 HbA1c values obtained over a period of 17 years were available for statistical evaluation.

4.2.3 Patients and Methods in Paper 3

A single-center, open, randomized, cross-over trial was conducted among type 1 diabetic patients on CSII for at least 6 months using a program for variable basal insulin infusion. The inclusion criteria were HbAlc of < 8.5% and an established routine to perform SMPG at least twice daily. The exclusion criteria were pregnancy, liver or kidney disease and progressive proliferative retinopathy. All the subjects were randomly assigned to receive either a morning dose of insulin glargine, comprising their average 24-h basal insulin requirement minus 2.4 units, which was delivered by the pump, or to continue as before for 4 weeks followed by a 1week washout period and a cross-over, giving a total study period of 9 weeks. A two-period AB/BA cross-over design was used to evaluate the effect of glargine versus CSII on the mean glucose concentration, the glucose area under the curve and glucose variability. Each subject was randomly allocated to receive either basal insulin substitution with glargine or a pump in the first period. The two treatment periods were separated by a 1-week active washout. This active washout was used to avoid serious harm to the patients' health. The targets for fasting glucose and post-meal glucose were 4-6 and 6-10 mmol/L respectively. A small dose of insulin was also delivered by the pump during the glargine treatment to minimize the risk of catheter obstruction, as it was thought to be important that the patients retained their treatment routines to administer bolus insulin doses by the pump. Four different pumps were used by the patients: H Tron Plus (Roche Insulin Delivery Systems Inc., Fishers, IN) (n 1), MiniMed 507 (Medtronic MiniMed, Northridge, CA) (n 5), MiniMed 508 (Medtronic MiniMed) (n 8) and Deltec Cozmo (Smiths Medical International, Ashford, UK) (n 1). The patients were instructed to take their meal doses of direct-acting analog insulin (aspart or lispro) with the pump as previously. Throughout the study, the CGMS Gold (Medtronic MiniMed) provided profiles over a 24-h period on days 19-21, 26-28, 47-49 and 54-56. CGMS data were blinded until both treatment periods were finished. For each treatment phase, a statistical analysis of the glucose profiles was performed from the data collected from the CGMS, the mean glucose concentration, the glucose area under the curve and glucose variability. The glucose variability was calculated as the SD of plasma glucose (SDPG) and MAGE. HbAlc was determined by liquid chromatographic assay (reference value for healthy subjects < 5.2%) at the end of each treatment period.

4.2.4 Patients and Methods in Paper 4

At the beginning of 1985, all diabetic patients registered at the Department of Medicine, Danderyd Hospital, in 1984, were sent a questionnaire about hypoglycemic reactions during the previous year. The patients numbered 434 and they were all classified on the basis of clinical criteria as type 1 diabetic patients. The questionnaire was answered by 377 (87%) patients. The same procedure was applied in 1999. At this time, 847 patients were registered and classified as type 1 diabetic patients at our clinic. The second questionnaire was answered by 641 (76%) patients and 178 patients answered both questionnaires. The questionnaire related to events of SH, unawareness of hypoglycemia, nocturnal episodes, pharmacological treatment and SMBG. SH was defined as an episode for which help from another person was required. Unawareness of hypoglycemia was defined as a blood glucose value of < 3 mmol/1 without the ability to perceive symptoms of hypoglycemia. Data relating to medical history were collected from medical files. Over the study period, the patients routinely attended the out-patient clinic two to three times a year. Diabetic complications were defined as follows; retinopathy as reduced visual acuity (< 0.5 bilateral), nephropathy as albuminuria = 300 mg/24 h, sensory and autonomic neuropathy as a clinical diagnosis of neuropathy. Renal function was assessed by calculating the creatinine clearance according to the formula (140-age) weight (kg)/7 s-creatinine (mg/dl). Macro-angiopathy was defined as hypertension, blood pressure of > 140/85 mm/Hg and/or ongoing anti-hypertensive therapy, a clinical diagnosis of angina, claudication, myocardial

infarction (MI) and/or cerebrovascular disease. Data on the patients who participated in the first questionnaire study but not in the second were also collected and cause of death was obtained from the National Department of Statistics and/or the results of forensic autopsies. Biochemical analyses: HbA1c was determined by an isoelectric focusing method, reference value for healthy subjects < 8.7% in 1982-1984, by liquid chromatographic assays, reference value < 5.6% in 1984-1990 and < 5.2% from 1991. Due to the different methods of HbA1c analysis used in the course of the study, values were recalculated using the upper limit of reference.

4.2.5 Questionnaire used in Thesis

The questionnaire used in 1985 and 1999 consists of 28 questions relating to treatment, incidence of hypoglycemia and psychosocial factors. Some of these questions, are as follows.

How often did you experience severe hypoglycemia (see definition) during the last year?

- 1. Never
- 2. At least once but fewer than five times
- 3. 1-3 times/month
- 4. 1-3 times/week
- 5. 3 times/week

Have you been to the emergency room due to SH during the last year?

- 1. Yes
- 2. No

If yes, how many times?

.....times

Do you modify your insulin dosage depending on the level of the b-glucose?

- 1. Yes
- 2. No

If yes, how often?

- 1. Daily
- 2. Weekly
- 3. Monthly

How often do you measure your b-glucose?

- 1. Daily
- 2. 2-3 days/week
- 3. 2-3 days/month
- 4. Less often
- 5. Never

Have you measured a b-glucose of < 3 mmol/l without having any hypoglycemic symptoms?

- 1. Never
- 2. At least once but fewer than 5 times during the last year
- 3. 1-3 times/month
- 4. 1-3 times/week
- 5. > 3 times/week

Number of patients	Cohort of 1984 (n = 377)	Cohort of 1998 (n = 641)	Study group in 1984 (n = 178)	Study group in 1998 (n = 178)
Gender (percent male)	56	51	54	54
Age (years ± SD)	37.8 ±13.1	44.2 ±13.7	35.0 ± 9.8	49.0 ±9.8***
Duration of DM (years ±SD)	18.6 ± 11.9	22.4 ±13.5	17.9 ±10.9	32.3 ±10.9***
HbA1c (% ± SD)	7.9 ± 1.5	7.4 ±1.4	7.6 ± 1.3	7.4 ± 1.1*
Severe hypo- glycemia (%)	20	21	17	27*
Insulin units/kg bodyweight/day	0.54 ± 0.14	0.60 ± 0.19	0.57 ± 0.17	0.56 ± 0.14
Multiple injection therapy (%)	67	98	71	98***
SMBG daily (%)	13	49	17	48***
Nocturnal events (%)	71	80	76	83*
Reduced awareness (%)	38	46	40	54**

Demographic and treatment data of the cohorts with type 1 diabetes mellitus (DM) in 1984 and 1998 and the study group

Statistical calculation between the cohorts in the study group: *P < 0.05; **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001. Including pump treatment SMBG, self-monitoring of blood glucose.

5 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

5.1 PAPER 1

Statistical significance was calculated using Student's two-tailed *t* test for paired observations for continuous data and the chi-square test for association for categorical data. Values of SDBG were applied in statistical analyses (logistic regression, Cox regression) prior to and after adjustment for mean blood glucose (measured as HbA1c), age and duration of diabetes. The prevalence of complications at the start of follow-up was analyzed by logistic regression. The complication-free cohort was analyzed with respect to the development of complications by Cox regression, in which patients were censored when lost to follow-up or deceased.

5.2 PAPER 2

The standard deviation of HbA1c (variability) and the mean HbA1c (overall level) was calculated, for each patient, using their measurements over time. To evaluate the effect of variability and the overall level of HbA1c on the total number of complications, a generalized linear model was fitted. We assumed that a Poisson distribution with a log link as the outcome is a positively skewed discrete continuous variable. The total number of complications consisted of proliferative diabetic retinopathy, albuminuria, micro-albuminuria, peripheral neuropathy, gastroparesis and erectile dysfunction, with each variable categorized into not-present and present. Patients who died during follow-up were not included in the analysis, as they have missing information regarding the number of complications. As covariates, age at baseline, disease duration and mean BMI were included in the model. The results are presented as risk ratios (RR) with 95% confidence intervals and p-values. The RRs were transformed to clinically relevant units. A t-test for independent groups, assuming unequal variances, was used to compare the patients who were alive with those who died during follow-up in terms of mean variability and mean overall HbA1c. IBM SPSS statistics (version 18.0, SPSS Inc., Chicago) were used for analyses and graphs.

5.3 PAPER 3

ANOVA for repeated measures was performed to estimate the difference between patients treated with glargine and CSII in the outcomes for AUC, SMPG, CGMS, number of episodes and variability. The outcomes were analyzed in separate models. A period by treatment interaction was included in all models to maximize the efficiency of the estimation of the treatment difference. An active washout was chosen because an absence of treatment would be harmful for the patients. The length of the washout period was clinically long enough to avoid any carry-over effects. Normal probability plots and residual plots were used to investigate the model assumptions underlying an ANOVA. P-values of less than 0.05 were regarded as statistically significant. All analyses and graphs were produced using the Statistica statistical software (version 7.0, StatSoft, Inc., Tulsa, Oklahoma).

5.4 PAPER 4

Statistical significance was evaluated by means of Student's two-tailed *t*-test for paired observations when normally distributed and the chi-square test for association when not. To determine the significance of risk factors of SH, a stepwise logistic multiple regression analysis was performed using severe hypoglycemia as the dependent variable. P–values of less than 0.05 were considered significant. Unless otherwise stated, the data are given as means \pm SD.

6 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

6.1 IS VARIABILITY OF BLOOD GLUCOSE IMPORTANT?

In a subgroup analysis of the DCCT cohort, it was demonstrated that 8% of intensively treated subjects as compared to 20% of non-intensively treated patients with similarly elevated HbA_{1c} levels developed retinopathy within nine years, a finding that has been quoted in support of the notion that there is "something unique" about intensive treatment independent of HbA_{1c} levels (Bloomgarden 2002). The question of why this difference exists then arises; it is possible to speculate that the difference may be due to reduced glycemic variability in the intensively treated group. Clinical studies have documented that long-term variability of fasting glucose is an independent predictor of mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes (Muggeo, Verlato et al. 1995) and data extracted from the DCCT cohort suggested that, while updated mean blood glucose was the primary risk factor for mortality, the mean amplitude of glycemic excursions recorded at baseline in one multivariate analysis also made a significant contribution to mortality (Service and O'Brien 2001). Additional support for the idea that glucose variability affects the risk of microvascular complications comes from another study where the incidence of retinopathy in a group of adolescents with type 1 diabetes appeared to fall substantially between 1990 and 2002, despite little change in HbA1c levels during the study period; the authors concluded that the move to multiple injection regimens over time may have contributed to this improvement by reducing glycemic fluctuations despite stability in the mean glucose concentration (Mohsin, Craig et al. 2005).

However, Kilpatrick and coworkers (Kilpatrick, Rigby et al. 2006; Siegelaar, Kilpatrick et al. 2009) have published results from a statistical analysis of the large DCCT database, reporting that HbA1c, but not glucose variability, was associated with a long-term risk of developing micro-angiopathy. The authors concluded that pre- and postprandial glucose values were equally predictive of small-vessel complications of type 1 diabetes.

In our analysis of a group of type 1 diabetic patients followed for 11 years, we found that SDBG was an independent predictor of the prevalence of peripheral neuropathy, as well as a predictor of the incidence of peripheral neuropathy of borderline significance. SDBG was also a predictor of the incidence of hypoglycemic unawareness. We failed to establish a significant relationship between SDBG and retinopathy or nephropathy. Since we defined retinopathy very narrowly as proliferative retinopathy and the incidence of this, as well as the incidence of nephropathy, appeared to be quite low compared with data from some other clinic-based studies, we can speculate that our study was insufficiently powered to detect such relationships – if they exist. Other study limitations that could change the interpretation would, for example, be the small number of patients, but the follow-up period is considerably long, 11 years. There are also confounding factors such as hemorheological abnormalities (platelet activation, fibrinogen levels) and endothelial cell dysfunction (von Willebrand factor, cell adhesion molecules) that we have not measured in this study. This was a clinical observational study and at our clinic we do not measure these factors routinely. The focus of this study was to see whether we could find any new information regarding the development of microvascular complications by using blood glucose variability measured as SDBG. We did not find any correlation between smoking and microvascular complications. The question about possible reversed causality is difficult to answer, but our interpretation of the result is that variability measured as SDBG has an impact on peripheral neuropathy rather than the opposite. Kilpatrick and co-workers (Kilpatrick, Rigby et al. 2006; Siegelaar, Kilpatrick et al. 2009) did not find any correlation between glucose variability and the relative risk of developing micro-angiopathic (nephro- and retinopathy) complications. They used 7-point blood-glucose profiles taken at 3-month intervals yielding an aggregate of 24,652 capillary blood glucose profile values between pre-breakfast (0700) and

bedtime (2200) hours. Instability of blood glucose (within-day SD) was calculated as the SD of daily blood glucose, variability over time was estimated as the SD of the mean blood glucose measurements measured at each quarter. They found that glucose variability did not play a role in the development of micro-angiopathic complications and concluded that only elevation of mean glucose over time as expressed by HbA1c was associated with a proportionally greater risk of developing micro-angiopathy in the long term. In a previous clinical study, a relationship between blood glucose excursions and painful neuropathy was documented (Oyibo, Prasad et al. 2002). At a given level of HbA1c, high variability in measured glucose will increase the number of both hyper- and hypoglycemic excursions. The latter, if recurrent, may induce a state of hypoglycemic unawareness which in itself is a major risk factor for severe hypoglycemic events in patients with type 1 diabetes (Oyibo, Prasad et al. 2002; Bragd, Adamson et al. 2003; Cryer, Davis et al. 2003).

In the present study, we were able to verify that SDBG was a highly significant predictor of the incidence of hypoglycemic unawareness. This raises the question of a putative relationship between hypoglycemia and peripheral neuropathy. In animal experiments, hypoglycemia may cause a distal axonopathy including both degenerative and regenerative events; in this respect, motor axons appear to be more vulnerable than sensory axons (Mohseni 2001). In our previous review of the literature, we found no studies showing that the development of peripheral neuropathy in diabetic humans could be unequivocally attributed to hypoglycemia (Lins and Adamson 1993). Other mechanisms for the development of peripheral neuropathy could be the activation of the polyol/sorbitol pathway or the activation of oxidative stress. They are, however, related to the level of the HbA1c.

6.2 IS LONG-TERM LIABILITY OF GLYCEMIC CONTROL, AS DETERMINED BY THE VARIABILITY OF HBA1C, RELATED TO DIABETIC COMPLICATIONS?

There is still a debate about whether short- or long-term glucose variability constitutes an additional risk of microvascular complications.

In a study performed by our research team on a cohort of 100 type 1 diabetes patients, we found that glucose variability measured as SDBG was related to the long-term risk of developing peripheral neuropathy, (P = 0.03) hazard ratio 2.34 (1.06-5.20), as well as being a predictor of the incidence of peripheral neuropathy at borderline significance, (P = 0.07) hazard ratio 1.73 (0.94-3.19) (Bragd, Adamson et al. 2008). On the contrary, Kilpatrick and coworkers (Kilpatrick, Rigby et al. 2006) have published several statistical analyses of the large DCCT database, reporting that glucose variability was not associated with the risk of developing microangiopathy.(Kilpatrick, Rigby et al. 2006; Siegelaar, Kilpatrick et al. 2009). However, in another analysis of the DCCT database, they were able to show that variability in HbA1c was correlated to an increase in microvascular complications (Kilpatrick, Rigby et al. 2008).

In 2009, a Finnish study group presented data on the variability of HbA1c. They performed an observational multicenter study of 2,107 patients and found in a Cox regression model that the SD of HbA1c was independently associated with the progression of renal disease and of CVD events among patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus (Waden, Forsblom et al. 2009). Their study was an observational study and would probably reflect the normal clinical setting better in terms of HbA1c variability compared with an interventional setting like that in the DCCT study. In the Finnish study, the endpoints were nephropathy and CVD and no other microvascular complications. For this reason, we have now analyzed our observational study cohort regarding variability in HbA1c and the development of all microvascular complications. During the

follow-up period, HbA1c was measured as a normal clinical routine at our out-patient clinic; 3,855 HbA1c tests were collected, giving a mean of 2.3 values per year and patient. We hypothesize in the present study that HbA1c variability measured as SD is related to the development of microvascular complications in subjects with type 1 diabetes.

In this study, we found that long-term glucose variability measured as the SD of HbA1c was related to an increased number of microvascular complications. Our finding supports the study presented by Waden et al.(Waden, Forsblom et al. 2009), where, in a Cox regression model, they showed that the SD of HbA1c was independently associated with the progression of renal disease and of CVD events among patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Compared with our study, they analyzed nephropathy among the microvascular complications. In our study, microvascular events of all kinds were included and were of importance for the statistical association. Our study consisted of only 100 patients at the start, although we had a considerably long follow-up period of 11 years. When the results were analyzed, a clear statistical significance was revealed and we therefore believe it is of clinical relevance. However, to answer the question of causality, an interventional study, such as the DCCT with HbA1c variability as the end-point, is needed.

Our finding is also consistent with the study by Kilpatrick et al. who reported that variability in HbA1c adds to the mean glucose value in predicting microvascular complications in type 1 diabetes (Kilpatrick, Rigby et al. 2008). Their study consists of a huge number of HbA1c values which makes the statistical analysis very strong and the result is therefore of clinical relevance. Moreover, in a recent report from the Oxford Regional Prospective Study and the Nephropathy Family Study, comprising a total of 1,232 participants, it was concluded that HbA1c variability was an independent variable that added to the effect of HbA1c on the risk of micro-albuminuria in young people with type 1 diabetes (Marcovecchio, Dalton et al. 2011).

The question of whether short-term or long-term variability might add to long-term glycemia as a risk of diabetic complications has been the subject of debate for many year. In our group of patients studied for a period of eleven years, it appears that both long-term glucose variability and short-term glucose variability have an impact on the development of microvascular complications. This was shown to be independent of mean blood glucose measured as HbA1c and there was no correlation between HbA1c variability and SDBG. Our patients already had long disease duration of approximately 20 years when they were included, which differs from the DCCT study, making the patients in our study more prone to develop a larger number of complications during the follow-up period. The patients were followed up for a long period, which we believe should compensate for the relatively small number of patients in our study. The study by Wadén et al. also revealed a correlation between HbA1c variability and macrovascular complications (CVD), which we did not find. However, the number of macrovascular events in our study was small and a correlation would therefore have been difficult to find.

The mechanisms for the development of diabetic complications are usually described as arising from sustained periods of hyperglycemia which lead to the intracellular overproduction of superoxide. The formation of superoxide is the key event in the activation of all the other pathways, such as the polyol/sorbitol pathway flux, increased advanced glycated end (AGE) product formation, increased hexosamine flux, the activation of oxidative stress and so on (Brownlee 2001). The effect of variable blood glucose, with periods of high glucose levels followed by periods of low levels, or vice versa, might be more deleterious in this respect than continuous hyperglycemia. There are studies that have shown that glucose variability in vitro triggers oxidative stress more than sustained periods of hyperglycemia (Piconi, Quagliaro et al. 2006). Another possible mechanism might be the theory of "metabolic memory". Periods of

higher glucose levels could induce harmful effects later on, even though the glucose level at that time has been normalized, "metabolic memory" (Ihnat, Thorpe et al. 2007).

6.3 DOES BASAL INSULIN SUBSTITUTION THERAPY WITH CSII GENERATE GLUCOSE PROFILES THAT ARE "SUPERIOR" TO THOSE ACHIEVED WITH INSULIN GLARGINE?

Since the introduction of CSII, this type of treatment has been regarded as the "golden standard" for achieving near normoglycemia without increased episodes of hypoglycemia. Several studies have shown that CSII is superior to multiple insulin injection therapy (MDI) treatment with human insulin in terms of glucose control and also in reducing episodes of hypoglycemia (Bode, Steed et al. 1996; Linkeschova, Raoul et al. 2002; Hoogma, Hammond et al. 2006). However, the development of insulin analogs, e.g. glargine (Lantus, Sanofi-Aventis Pharmaceuticals Inc.), has improved MDI treatment compared with MDI with human insulin. MDI treatment with glargine produces improved glycemic control and fewer episodes of hypoglycemia compared with MDI with human insulin (Ratner, Hirsch et al. 2000). The question of whether MDI treatment with glargine is comparable to CSII treatment therefore arises. When comparing MDI on glargine with CSII, it has been shown that CSII improves glucose control among patients with type 1 diabetes and also reduces the risk of hypoglycemia (Hirsch, Bode et al. 2005).

The recent development of a CGMS represents an improvement in the process of evaluating the glucose profiles of patients with type 1 diabetes. The greatest advantage with CGMS compared with the self-monitoring of plasma glucose (SMPG) is the opportunity also to monitor the night when the patient is asleep. It is generally held that basal insulin substitution with CSII produces less variable glucose levels than with long-acting insulin analogs, e.g. glargine, in patients with type 1 diabetes, although this has hitherto not been convincingly demonstrated in adults by continuous glucose monitoring (Bruttomesso, Crazzolara et al. 2008). However, in a prospective study performed on young children with type 1 diabetes, CSII reduced glucose variability measured as MAGE compared with MDI treatment with glargine and lispro (Alemzadeh, Palma-Sisto et al. 2007). The aim of our study was to compare the glucose control as determined by the CGMS in type 1 diabetes patients on CSII with or without the supplementary basal insulin analog, glargine. We conducted an open, randomized, cross-over trial with 15 type 1 diabetics using CSII.

In this study, the most prominent finding was the improvement in the glucose profile among the patients when using CSII. During CSII treatment, the patients were closer to normoglycemia compared with glargine treatment. There were a few more hypoglycemic (<3.5 mmol/l) episodes when using CSII, but there was no significant difference with glargine regarding the time spent in the hypoglycemic range (<3.5mmol/l). The small dose of insulin delivered by the pump during the glargine treatment was designed to prevent pump malfunction and to enable the patients to retain their normal insulin treatment routines and thereby minimize the changes between the two treatment arms. The patients were also instructed to take their meal doses, of a direct-acting analog insulin aspart or lispro, with the pump as previously. When calculating variability, SDBG was used because it is an easily available glucose index for glucose variability and the CGMS program also includes calculations of SD. In our study group, we have previously used SD to assess glucose variability (Moberg, Kollind et al. 1993; Moberg, Lins et al. 1994). MAGE is, however, the "golden standard" for glucose variability and we therefore also used this method (Service, Molnar et al. 1970). In our study, there was no difference in variability between glargine and CSII. This finding could perhaps be due to the fact that the study was underpowered; only 15 patients completed the study. However, when analyzing the

results, it is not likely that a few more patients would change the outcome to any significant degree.

One advantage of this study was the use of CGMS when monitoring the patients. This meant that we were also able to include the nighttime values in the calculation of variability. It is important to know that the "golden standard" for the calculation of glucose variability, MAGE, was first performed on patients with continuous glucose monitoring by Service in 1970. When performing only SMBG, there is a risk of underestimating or overestimating glucose variability due to the fact that the nighttime values cannot be seen. The night is a "blind spot".

6.4 WHAT HAS THE USE OF MULTIPLE INJECTION THERAPY AND SMBG MEANT FOR THE PREVALENCE OF SEVERE HYPOGLYCEMIA IN CLINICAL PRACTICE?

Over the last 20 years, new therapeutic strategies have been introduced in the management of type 1 diabetic patients; they include the use of multiple-injection therapy, new insulin analogs and self-monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG), as well as the intensified education of patients and relatives. All these factors may help to improve the glycemic control and the quality of life at a low risk of hypoglycemia.

In the DCCT study, a strong inverse relationship between the HbA1c level and the incidence of SH in the intensively treated patients was documented and the number of prior episodes of hypoglycemia was the strongest predictor of the risk of future episodes. Furthermore, long diabetes duration, low stimulated C-peptide levels and a high insulin dose were associated with SH. In the DCCT, half of all SH episodes occurred during sleep and one third of daytime episodes occurred without apparent warning (Clarke, Cox et al. 1995). Although a number of risk factors for SH were identified in the DCCT, together they explained less than 10% of the variance (Bott, Bott et al. 1997).

In clinical practice, other variables to consider with respect to SH include psychosocial factors, as it has been suggested that these factors play an important role in the successful self-management of diabetes (Heller 2000).

When comparing the fairly diverse prevalence and incidence figures of SH presented in different studies (Tattersall 1999), the HbA1c profile of each study population is one factor that has to be taken into consideration.

The results from our study group showed an increase in the prevalence of SH from 17 to 27 percent during the 14 years of observation. An inverse correlation to the HbA1c level and a correlation to unawareness were also found in our group. Our figures for unawareness are derived from self-reporting and it is important to remember the risk of bias when using such data. Clarke and colleagues addressed this issue in a prospective evaluation of the frequency and severity of hypoglycemic episodes in type 1 diabetic subjects who declared themselves to have reduced awareness of hypoglycemia and concluded that these patients are generally correct (Clarke, Cox et al. 1995). It has even been suggested that estimates of the prevalence of unawareness based on patient questionnaires may underestimate its extent (Heller 2000). Moreover, our data are very much in line with those of other investigators (Pramming, Thorsteinsson et al. 1991; Frier 1999). In a previous study, hypoglycemia unawareness has been shown to predispose to a sixfold higher rate of SH as compared to that of patients with normal awareness (Gold, MacLeod et al. 1994). Reduced hypoglycemia awareness was reported by as many as 54% in our study group, with a mean duration of diabetes of 32 years. This corresponds to an annual increase in the frequency of unawareness of 1% between our cross-sectional surveys.

SMBG became a "standard" procedure in the management of type 1 diabetic patients while this study was ongoing. There are two main reasons for this; one is the need frequently to adjust insulin doses in intensive therapy and the other is the need to detect low blood glucose since the occurrence of SH is strongly related to the frequency of low blood glucose readings (Cox, Kovatchev et al. 1994; Kovatchev, Cox et al. 2000). Allen and co-workers reported that SMBG independently predicted frequent episodes of hypoglycemia but not SH (Allen, LeCaire et al. 2001). This is consistent with our present findings that daily SMBG was not related to SH, in spite of the fact that as many as 48% of our patients performed SMBG on a daily basis. Notably, in our statistical evaluation, neither age nor the duration of diabetes was significantly related to SH in our study group, while such relationships were found in the cohorts of 1984 and 1998 respectively.

It has been demonstrated that nephropathy (Muhlhauser, Toth et al. 1991; Bell and Cutter 1994) and neuropathy (Bell and Cutter 1994; Stephenson, Kempler et al. 1996) are related to SH. The prevalence of overt nephropathy and renal failure was low in our study population and we were thus unable to further elucidate the role of nephropathy in this respect.

7 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

7.1 CONCLUSIONS PAPER 1

We conclude that the variability of blood glucose may be of importance for the development of peripheral neuropathy in subjects with type 1 diabetes and that nerve tissue might thus be particularly vulnerable to glycemic variability. However, the issue of the correlation between blood glucose variability and the development of microvascular complications still remains open.

7.2 CONCLUSIONS PAPER 2

We conclude that the variability of HbA1c may be of importance for the development of microvascular complications in subjects with type 1 diabetes.

7.3 CONCLUSIONS PAPER 3

It is concluded that CSII provides superior glucose control as compared to glargine, with a lower mean blood glucose (p=0.002), longer periods of glucose values within target (p=0.034) and a lower HbA1c (p=0.018) on a somewhat smaller insulin dose (n.s.). There was, however, no significant difference with respect to glucose variability calculated as SDPG or MAGE.

7.4 CONCLUSIONS PAPER 4

We conclude that, in spite of the more frequent use of multiple injection therapy and more frequent SMBG, the prevalence of SH increased by more than 50% over 14 years. A multiple logistic regression analysis of risk factors for SH explained less than 10 percent of the variance, giving significance only to unawareness of hypoglycemia and HbA1c.

7.5 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

How can we increase the translation of research results into clinical practice and improve the medical care of patients?

- Further studies regarding short-term and long-term glucose variability would be welcomed and are important.
- In clinical practice when treating patients with type 1 diabetes, I recommend that a value of the patient's glucose variability should be recorded alongside HbA1c.
- The recording of glucose variability should be performed with a "blinded" CGM.
- I recommend SD as a measure of glucose variability due to its simplicity and the fact that all CGM software contains SD in the program.
- In our study group, we are going to perform a randomized, double-blind, cross-over study evaluating the difference in glucose variability between placebo and domperidone with CGMS.
- Perhaps we should promote treatment recommendations for glucose variability, as we have with HbA1c and blood pressure measurements.
- It is important that, even in the future, The Dental and Pharmaceutical Benefits Agency (TLV) have some kind of reimbursement for glucose sensors and CSII.
- It is to be hoped there will be some kind of "closed loop" system on the market in the near future. (5-10 years?)

8 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my sincere gratitude to:

Per Oskarsson, Dr Med Sci, my principal supervisor, for guiding me through the field of science with never-ending enthusiasm, for always having time for discussions and answering all my questions. For his excellent driving in Scotland

Professor Per-Eric Lins, my second supervisor, for sharing his great knowledge of diabetology with me, for always having time for scientific discussions and for believing in me

Professor Ulf Adamson, my third supervisor, for guiding me through the field of science with never-ending enthusiasm

Associate Professor Erik Moberg, my mentor, for scientific support and for his skillful advice regarding research

My colleague, Associate Professor Gun Jörneskog, for her friendship and skillful support

Associate Professor Håkan Wallen, for his skillful advice on research

Fredrik Granath, for statistical support and skillful help with statistical problems

Jakob Bergström, for statistical support and for guiding me in the world of statistics

Associate Professor Carl-Göran Ericsson, former Head of the Department of Medicine, for placing time and facilities at my disposal

Mrs. Lena Gabrielsson, for her skillful assistance during my years of research

Mrs. Nina Ringart, for her never-ending support and help during my years of research

All my colleagues at the Endocrinology Department and, in particular, Drs. Åsa Nybäck-Nakell, Maaria von Heijne, Anna von Döbeln and Lena Landstedt-Hallin, for their friendship and neverending support

Dr Elisabeth Änggård-Rooth, for her support and friendship

All my colleagues at MSD Sweden Medical Affairs and, in particular, Sigrid Ivarsson, Tryggve Ljung and Peter Hovstadius, for their support and friendship

All the patients with type 1 diabetes at Danderyd Hospital without whom these studies would not have been possible

My beloved family; my wife, Irene, and my son, David, as well as my parents and my parentsin-law, for their everlasting love and support

My brothers, Fredrik and Mikael, and my sister, Petra, for their love and support

My sister-in-law, Eleni, and her husband, Jonas, for their friendship and support

My dear friends, Sven Åke Lööv and Christina Jarnert, for their never-ending support and friendship

My dear friends, Roger and Eva Tell, for their support and friendship

Harlet, my beloved horse, for his support when I need to take a break from the world of science

The furry cats, Boris and Adara, who always make my day an adventure when they walk all over the computer...

9 REFERENCES

(1991). "Epidemiology of severe hypoglycemia in the diabetes control and complications trial. The DCCT Research Group." Am J Med 90(4): 450-459.

(1993). "The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group." N Engl J Med 329(14): 977-986.

(1994). "Microvascular and acute complications in IDDM patients: the EURODIAB IDDM Complications Study." Diabetologia 37(3): 278-285.

(1997). "Hypoglycemia in the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group." Diabetes 46(2): 271-286.

(1997). "Report of the Expert Committee on the Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus." Diabetes Care 20(7): 1183-1197.

(2000). "Retinopathy and nephropathy in patients with type 1 diabetes four years after a trial of intensive therapy. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions and Complications Research Group." N Engl J Med 342(6): 381-389.

(2003). "Report of the expert committee on the diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus." Diabetes Care 26 Suppl 1: S5-20.

(2007). "Consensus statement on the worldwide standardisation of the HbA1c measurement." Diabetologia 50(10): 2042-2043.

(2009). Riktlinjer för diabetesbehandling. Socialstyrelsen. Stockholm.

(2011). "Executive summary: standards of medical care in diabetes--2011." Diabetes Care 34 Suppl 1: S4-10.

(2011). "Standards of medical care in diabetes--2011." Diabetes Care 34 Suppl 1: S11-61.

(2011). "Update of ADA's major position statement, "Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes". Introduction." Diabetes Care 34 Suppl 1: S1-2.

Adamson, U. (2010). "Hypoglykemi vid insulinbehandling-ett huvudproblem för personer med typ 1 diabetes." Diabetolog Nytt 23(6): 1-36.

Alemzadeh, R., P. Palma-Sisto, et al. (2007). "Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion attenuated glycemic instability in preschool children with type 1 diabetes mellitus." Diabetes Technol Ther 9(4): 339-347.

Allen, C., T. LeCaire, et al. (2001). "Risk factors for frequent and severe hypoglycemia in type 1 diabetes." Diabetes Care 24(11): 1878-1881.

Anderbro, T., S. Amsberg, et al. (2010). "Fear of hypoglycaemia in adults with Type 1 diabetes." Diabet Med 27(10): 1151-1158.

Baghurst, P. A., D. Rodbard, et al. (2010). "The minimum frequency of glucose measurements from which glycemic variation can be consistently assessed." J Diabetes Sci Technol 4(6): 1382-1385.

Battelino, T., M. Phillip, et al. (2011). "Effect of continuous glucose monitoring on hypoglycemia in type 1 diabetes." Diabetes Care 34(4): 795-800.

Beck, R. W., I. B. Hirsch, et al. (2009). "The effect of continuous glucose monitoring in wellcontrolled type 1 diabetes." Diabetes Care 32(8): 1378-1383.

Bell, D. S. and G. Cutter (1994). "Characteristics of severe hypoglycemia in the patient with insulin-dependent diabetes." South Med J 87(6): 616-620.

Berne, C.-D. A. o. C. (2010). Diabetes. Stockholm, Liber AB, 113 98 Stockholm.

Binder, C., T. Lauritzen, et al. (1984). "Insulin pharmacokinetics." Diabetes Care 7(2): 188-199.

Bloomgarden, Z. T. (2002). "The epidemiology of complications." Diabetes Care 25(5): 924-932.

Bode, B. W., R. D. Steed, et al. (1996). "Reduction in severe hypoglycemia with long-term continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion in type I diabetes." Diabetes Care 19(4): 324-327.

Boland, E., T. Monsod, et al. (2001). "Limitations of conventional methods of self-monitoring of blood glucose: lessons learned from 3 days of continuous glucose sensing in pediatric patients with type 1 diabetes." Diabetes Care 24(11): 1858-1862.

Bolli, G. B., R. D. Di Marchi, et al. (1999). "Insulin analogues and their potential in the management of diabetes mellitus." Diabetologia 42(10): 1151-1167.

Bollinger, A., J. Frey, et al. (1982). "Patterns of diffusion through skin capillaries in patients with long-term diabetes." N Engl J Med 307(21): 1305-1310.

Borg, R., J. C. Kuenen, et al. (2011). "HbA(c) and mean blood glucose show stronger associations with cardiovascular disease risk factors than do postprandial glycaemia or glucose variability in persons with diabetes: the A1C-Derived Average Glucose (ADAG) study." Diabetologia 54(1): 69-72.

Bott, S., U. Bott, et al. (1997). "Intensified insulin therapy and the risk of severe hypoglycaemia." Diabetologia 40(8): 926-932.

Boyle, P. J., S. F. Kempers, et al. (1995). "Brain glucose uptake and unawareness of hypoglycemia in patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus." N Engl J Med 333(26): 1726-1731.

Bradley, C. and C. J. Gilbride (2008). "Improving treatment satisfaction and other patient-reported outcomes in people with type 2 diabetes: the role of once-daily insulin glargine." Diabetes Obes Metab 10 Suppl 2: 50-65.

Bragd, J., U. Adamson, et al. (2008). "Can glycaemic variability, as calculated from blood glucose self-monitoring, predict the development of complications in type 1 diabetes over a decade?" Diabetes Metab 34(6 Pt 1): 612-616.

Bragd, J., U. Adamson, et al. (2003). "A repeated cross-sectional survey of severe hypoglycaemia in 178 Type 1 diabetes mellitus patients performed in 1984 and 1998." Diabet Med 20(3): 216-219.

Bragd, J., P. Oskarsson, et al. (2004). "[Episodes of severe hypoglycemia--increasing problem in type 1 diabetes]." Lakartidningen 101(51-52): 4202-4205.

Bragd, J., A. von Dobeln, et al. (2010). "Basal insulin substitution with glargine or continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion in adult type 1 diabetes patients-a randomized controlled trial." Diabetes Technol Ther 12(9): 689-693.

Brierley, E. J., D. L. Broughton, et al. (1995). "Reduced awareness of hypoglycaemia in the elderly despite an intact counter-regulatory response." QJM 88(6): 439-445.

Brownlee, M. (2001). "Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications." Nature 414(6865): 813-820.

Bruttomesso, D., D. Crazzolara, et al. (2008). "In Type 1 diabetic patients with good glycaemic control, blood glucose variability is lower during continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion than during multiple daily injections with insulin glargine." Diabet Med 25(3): 326-332.

Cameron, F. J., P. A. Baghurst, et al. (2010). "Assessing glycemic variation: why, when and how?" Pediatr Endocrinol Rev 7 Suppl 3: 432-444.

Cameron, F. J., S. M. Donath, et al. (2010). "Measuring glycaemic variation." Curr Diabetes Rev 6(1): 17-26.

Chase, H. P., L. M. Kim, et al. (2001). "Continuous subcutaneous glucose monitoring in children with type 1 diabetes." Pediatrics 107(2): 222-226.

Chung, S. S., E. C. Ho, et al. (2003). "Contribution of polyol pathway to diabetes-induced oxidative stress." J Am Soc Nephrol 14(8 Suppl 3): S233-236.

Clark, J. M., Jr. and J. P. Eyzaguirre (1962). "Tyrosine activation and transfer to soluble ribonucleic acid. I. Purification and study of the enzyme of hog pancreas." J Biol Chem 237: 3698-3702.

Clarke, W. L., D. J. Cox, et al. (1995). "Reduced awareness of hypoglycemia in adults with IDDM. A prospective study of hypoglycemic frequency and associated symptoms." Diabetes Care 18(4): 517-522.

Clarke, W. L., L. A. Gonder-Frederick, et al. (1991). "Multifactorial origin of hypoglycemic symptom unawareness in IDDM. Association with defective glucose counterregulation and better glycemic control." Diabetes 40(6): 680-685.

Clarke, W. L., S. Anderson, et al. (2005). "Evaluating the clinical accuracy of two continuous glucose sensors using continuous glucose-error grid analysis." Diabetes Care 28(10): 2412-2417.

Clarke, W. L., D. Cox, et al. (1987). "Evaluating clinical accuracy of systems for self-monitoring of blood glucose." Diabetes Care 10(5): 622-628.

Colquitt, J., P. Royle, et al. (2003). "Are analogue insulins better than soluble in continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion? Results of a meta-analysis." Diabet Med 20(10): 863-866.

Colquitt, J. L., C. Green, et al. (2004). "Clinical and cost-effectiveness of continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion for diabetes." Health Technol Assess 8(43): iii, 1-171.

Conget, I., T. Battelino, et al. (2011). "The SWITCH study (sensing with insulin pump therapy to control HbA(1c)): design and methods of a randomized controlled crossover trial on sensor-augmented insulin pump efficacy in type 1 diabetes suboptimally controlled with pump therapy." Diabetes Technol Ther 13(1): 49-54.

Cotton, D. B., B. Gonik, et al. (1985). "Cardiovascular alterations in severe pregnancy-induced hypertension: relationship of central venous pressure to pulmonary capillary wedge pressure." Am J Obstet Gynecol 151(6): 762-764.

Cox, D. J., B. P. Kovatchev, et al. (1994). "Frequency of severe hypoglycemia in insulindependent diabetes mellitus can be predicted from self-monitoring blood glucose data." J Clin Endocrinol Metab 79(6): 1659-1662.

Cryer, P. E. (1992). "Iatrogenic hypoglycemia as a cause of hypoglycemia-associated autonomic failure in IDDM. A vicious cycle." Diabetes 41(3): 255-260.

Cryer, P. E. (1994). "Banting Lecture. Hypoglycemia: the limiting factor in the management of IDDM." Diabetes 43(11): 1378-1389.

Cryer, P. E. (2002). "Hypoglycaemia: the limiting factor in the glycaemic management of Type I and Type II diabetes." Diabetologia 45(7): 937-948.

Cryer, P. E., S. N. Davis, et al. (2003). "Hypoglycemia in diabetes." Diabetes Care 26(6): 1902-1912.

Deckert, T., B. Feldt-Rasmussen, et al. (1989). "Albuminuria reflects widespread vascular damage. The Steno hypothesis." Diabetologia 32(4): 219-226.

Deiss, D., J. Bolinder, et al. (2006). "Improved glycemic control in poorly controlled patients with type 1 diabetes using real-time continuous glucose monitoring." Diabetes Care 29(12): 2730-2732.

Derr, R., E. Garrett, et al. (2003). "Is HbA(1c) affected by glycemic instability?" Diabetes Care 26(10): 2728-2733.

Ditzel, J. and K. Junker (1972). "Abnormal glomerular filtration rate, renal plasma flow, and renal protein excretion in recent and short-term diabetics." Br Med J 2(5804): 13-19.

Doyle, E. A., S. A. Weinzimer, et al. (2004). "A randomized, prospective trial comparing the efficacy of continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion with multiple daily injections using insulin glargine." Diabetes Care 27(7): 1554-1558.

Dyck, P. J., J. L. Davies, et al. (2006). "Modeling chronic glycemic exposure variables as correlates and predictors of microvascular complications of diabetes." Diabetes Care 29(10): 2282-2288.

Eschwege, E., C. Guyot-Argenton, et al. (1976). "Effect of multiple daily insulin injections on the course of diabetic retinopathy." Diabetes 25(5): 463-469.

Fanelli, C., S. Pampanelli, et al. (1994). "Long-term recovery from unawareness, deficient counterregulation and lack of cognitive dysfunction during hypoglycaemia, following institution of rational, intensive insulin therapy in IDDM." Diabetologia 37(12): 1265-1276.

Fanelli, C. G., F. Porcellati, et al. (2004). "Insulin therapy and hypoglycaemia: the size of the problem." Diabetes Metab Res Rev 20 Suppl 2: S32-42.

Faris, I., K. Agerskov, et al. (1982). "Decreased distensibility of a passive vascular bed in diabetes mellitus: an indicator of microangiopathy?" Diabetologia 23(5): 411-414.

Feldt-Rasmussen, B., K. Norgaard, et al. (1989). "Role of angiotensin and aldosterone in the pathogenesis of hypertension in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus?" Diabete Metab 15(5 Pt 2): 311-312.

Ferguson, S. C., M. W. Strachan, et al. (2001). "Severe hypoglycaemia in patients with type 1 diabetes and impaired awareness of hypoglycaemia: a comparative study of insulin lispro and regular human insulin." Diabetes Metab Res Rev 17(4): 285-291.

Ferrannini, E., D. C. Simonson, et al. (1988). "The disposal of an oral glucose load in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes." Metabolism 37(1): 79-85.

Frier, B. (1999). Impaired hypoglycaemia awareness. Hypoglycaemia in Clinical Diabetes. B. Frier and B. Fisher. Chichester, UK, John Wiley & Sons Ltd: 111-146.

Gentilcore, D., R. Chaikomin, et al. (2006). "Effects of fat on gastric emptying of and the glycemic, insulin, and incretin responses to a carbohydrate meal in type 2 diabetes." J Clin Endocrinol Metab 91(6): 2062-2067.

Gentilcore, D., S. Doran, et al. (2006). "Effects of intraduodenal glucose concentration on blood pressure and heart rate in healthy older subjects." Dig Dis Sci 51(4): 652-656.

Genuth, S., J. M. Lachin, et al. (2005). "Biological variation in HbA1c predicts risk of retinopathy and nephropathy in type 1 diabetes: response to McCarter et al." Diabetes Care 28(1): 233; author reply 234-235.

Geraldes, P. and G. L. King (2010). "Activation of protein kinase C isoforms and its impact on diabetic complications." Circ Res 106(8): 1319-1331.

Gold, A. E., B. M. Frier, et al. (1997). "A structural equation model for predictors of severe hypoglycaemia in patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus." Diabet Med 14(4): 309-315.

Gold, A. E., K. M. MacLeod, et al. (1994). "Frequency of severe hypoglycemia in patients with type I diabetes with impaired awareness of hypoglycemia." Diabetes Care 17(7): 697-703.

Gonder-Frederick, L., D. Cox, et al. (1997). "The psychosocial impact of severe hypoglycemic episodes on spouses of patients with IDDM." Diabetes Care 20(10): 1543-1546.

Gonder-Frederick, L. A., W. L. Clarke, et al. (1997). "The Emotional, Social, and Behavioral Implications of Insulin-Induced Hypoglycemia." Semin Clin Neuropsychiatry 2(1): 57-65.

Gundersen, H. J. (1974). "Peripheral blood flow and metabolic control in juvenile diabetes." Diabetologia 10(3): 225-231.

Hanas, R. and G. John (2010). "2010 consensus statement on the worldwide standardization of the hemoglobin A1c measurement." Pediatr Diabetes 11(4): 209-211.

Heller, S. (2000). How should hypoglycaemia unawareness be managed? Difficult Diabetes. G. Gill, J. Picjup and G. Williams. Oxford, UK, Blackwell Science Ltd: 168-188.

Hepburn, D. A., K. M. MacLeod, et al. (1993). "Frequency and symptoms of hypoglycaemia experienced by patients with type 2 diabetes treated with insulin." Diabet Med 10(3): 231-237.

Hepburn, D. A., A. W. Patrick, et al. (1990). "Unawareness of hypoglycaemia in insulin-treated diabetic patients: prevalence and relationship to autonomic neuropathy." Diabet Med 7(8): 711-717.

Herbert, F. K. and M. C. Bourne (1930). "The non-sugar reducing substances of human blood, with special reference to glutathione." Biochem J 24(2): 299-309.

Herz, M., V. Arora, et al. (2002). "Basal-bolus insulin therapy in Type 1 diabetes: comparative study of pre-meal administration of a fixed mixture of insulin lispro (50%) and neutral protamine lispro (50%) with human soluble insulin." Diabet Med 19(11): 917-923.

Hirsch, I. B., B. W. Bode, et al. (2005). "Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII) of insulin aspart versus multiple daily injection of insulin aspart/insulin glargine in type 1 diabetic patients previously treated with CSII." Diabetes Care 28(3): 533-538.

Hirsch, I. B. and M. Brownlee (2005). "Should minimal blood glucose variability become the gold standard of glycemic control?" J Diabetes Complications 19(3): 178-181.

Hoeldtke, R. D., G. Boden, et al. (1982). "Reduced epinephrine secretion and hypoglycemia unawareness in diabetic autonomic neuropathy." Ann Intern Med 96(4): 459-462.

Hoogma, R. P., P. J. Hammond, et al. (2006). "Comparison of the effects of continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII) and NPH-based multiple daily insulin injections (MDI) on glycaemic control and quality of life: results of the 5-nations trial." Diabet Med 23(2): 141-147.

Holt, P. (2011). "Taking hypoglycaemia seriously: diabetes, dementia and heart disease." Br J Community Nurs 16(5): 246-249.

Ihnat, M. A., J. E. Thorpe, et al. (2007). "Hypothesis: the 'metabolic memory', the new challenge of diabetes." Diabet Med 24(6): 582-586.

Jabbour, S. (2009). "Type 2 diabetes and HbA1c goal: time for individualised therapy." Int J Clin Pract 63(10): 1408-1409.

Janssen, M. M., F. J. Snoek, et al. (2000). "Biological and behavioural determinants of the frequency of mild, biochemical hypoglycaemia in patients with Type 1 diabetes on multiple insulin injection therapy." Diabetes Metab Res Rev 16(3): 157-163.

Janssen, M. M., F. J. Snoek, et al. (2000). "Assessing impaired hypoglycemia awareness in type 1 diabetes: agreement of self-report but not of field study data with the autonomic symptom threshold during experimental hypoglycemia." Diabetes Care 23(4): 529-532.

Jax, T. W., A. J. Peters, et al. (2009). "Hemostatic risk factors in patients with coronary artery disease and type 2 diabetes - a two year follow-up of 243 patients." Cardiovasc Diabetol 8: 48.

Jax, T. W., A. J. Peters, et al. (2009). "Relevance of hemostatic risk factors on coronary morphology in patients with diabetes mellitus type 2." Cardiovasc Diabetol 8: 24.

Jensen-Urstad, K., P. Reichard, et al. (1999). "Decreased heart rate variability in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus is related to arterial wall stiffness." J Intern Med 245(1): 57-61.

Jeppsson, J. O., P. Jerntorp, et al. (1986). "Measurement of hemoglobin A1c by a new liquidchromatographic assay: methodology, clinical utility, and relation to glucose tolerance evaluated." Clin Chem 32(10): 1867-1872.

Johansson, J., P. Reichard, et al. (2003). "Influence of glucose control, lipoproteins, and haemostasis function on brachial endothelial reactivity and carotid intima-media area, stiffness and diameter in Type 1 diabetes mellitus patients." Eur J Clin Invest 33(6): 472-479.

Jokl, R., Colwell, J.A (1997). Clotting disorders in diabetes. Textbook of Diabetes Mellitus. K. G. Alberti, Zimmet, P, Defronzo, R, Koen, H. Chichester, Wiley: 1543-1557.

Joslin, E. P. (1924). "The Treatment of Diabetes Mellitus." Can Med Assoc J 14(9): 808-811.

Kabanova, S., P. Kleinbongard, et al. (2009). "Gene expression analysis of human red blood cells." Int J Med Sci 6(4): 156-159.

Khorsand, J., R. Tennant, et al. (1985). "Congenital alveolar capillary dysplasia: a developmental vascular anomaly causing persistent pulmonary hypertension of the newborn." Pediatr Pathol 3(2-4): 299-306.

Kilpatrick, E. S., A. S. Rigby, et al. (2006). "The effect of glucose variability on the risk of microvascular complications in type 1 diabetes." Diabetes Care 29(7): 1486-1490.

Kilpatrick, E. S., A. S. Rigby, et al. (2008). "A1C variability and the risk of microvascular complications in type 1 diabetes: data from the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial." Diabetes Care 31(11): 2198-2202.

Kohner, E. M., A. M. Hamilton, et al. (1975). "The retinal blood flow in diabetes." Diabetologia 11(1): 27-33.

Kovatchev, B. P., D. J. Cox, et al. (2000). "Episodes of severe hypoglycemia in type 1 diabetes are preceded and followed within 48 hours by measurable disturbances in blood glucose." J Clin Endocrinol Metab 85(11): 4287-4292.

Kuenen, J. C., R. Borg, et al. (2011). "Does Glucose Variability Influence the Relationship Between Mean Plasma Glucose and HbA1c Levels in Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetic Patients?" Diabetes Care 34(8): 1843-1847. Lachin, J. M., S. Genuth, et al. (2008). "Effect of glycemic exposure on the risk of microvascular complications in the diabetes control and complications trial--revisited." Diabetes 57(4): 995-1001.

Landauer, W. and E. M. Clark (1962). "Teratogenic interaction of insulin and 2-deoxy-D-glucose in chick development." J Exp Zool 151: 245-252.

Landin-Olsson, M., J. O. Jeppsson, et al. (2010). "[HbA1c--new standardization introduced in Sweden. The new unit is mmol/mol]." Lakartidningen 107(51-52): 3282-3285.

Lauritzen, T., O. K. Faber, et al. (1979). "Variation in 125I-insulin absorption and blood glucose concentration." Diabetologia 17(5): 291-295.

Lauritzen, T., K. Frost-Larsen, et al. (1983). "Continuous subcutaneous insulin." Lancet 1(8339): 1445-1446.

Lauritzen, T., S. Pramming, et al. (1983). "Pharmacokinetics of continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion." Diabetologia 24(5): 326-329.

Leckie, A. M., M. K. Graham, et al. (2005). "Frequency, severity, and morbidity of hypoglycemia occurring in the workplace in people with insulin-treated diabetes." Diabetes Care 28(6): 1333-1338.

Leese, G. P., J. Wang, et al. (2003). "Frequency of severe hypoglycemia requiring emergency treatment in type 1 and type 2 diabetes: a population-based study of health service resource use." Diabetes Care 26(4): 1176-1180.

Lepore, M., S. Pampanelli, et al. (2000). "Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of subcutaneous injection of long-acting human insulin analog glargine, NPH insulin, and ultralente human insulin and continuous subcutaneous infusion of insulin lispro." Diabetes 49(12): 2142-2148.

Linkeschova, R., M. Raoul, et al. (2002). "Less severe hypoglycaemia, better metabolic control, and improved quality of life in Type 1 diabetes mellitus with continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion (CSII) therapy; an observational study of 100 consecutive patients followed for a mean of 2 years." Diabet Med 19(9): 746-751.

Lins, P. E. and U. Adamson (1993). Neurological manifestations of hypoglycaemia. Hypoglycaemia and diabetes. Clinical and physiological aspects. B. Frier and B. Fisher. London, UK, Hodder Arnold: 347-354.

Liu, D. T., U. C. Adamson, et al. (1992). "Inhibitory effect of circulating insulin on glucagon secretion during hypoglycemia in type I diabetic patients." Diabetes Care 15(1): 59-65.

Little, R. R., C. L. Rohlfing, et al. (2011). "Status of hemoglobin A1c measurement and goals for improvement: from chaos to order for improving diabetes care." Clin Chem 57(2): 205-214.

Lorenzi, M., J. A. Nordberg, et al. (1987). "High glucose prolongs cell-cycle traversal of cultured human endothelial cells." Diabetes 36(11): 1261-1267.

Lorenzi, M., S. Toledo, et al. (1987). "The polyol pathway and glucose 6-phosphate in human endothelial cells cultured in high glucose concentrations." Diabetologia 30(4): 222-227.

MacLeod, K. M., D. A. Hepburn, et al. (1993). "Frequency and morbidity of severe hypoglycaemia in insulin-treated diabetic patients." Diabet Med 10(3): 238-245.

Marcovecchio, M. L., R. N. Dalton, et al. (2011). "A1C variability as an independent risk factor for microalbuminuria in young people with type 1 diabetes." Diabetes Care 34(4): 1011-1013.

Mathiesen, E. R., K. Borch-Johnsen, et al. (1989). "Improved survival in patients with diabetic nephropathy." Diabetologia 32(12): 884-886.

Matyka, K., M. Evans, et al. (1997). "Altered hierarchy of protective responses against severe hypoglycemia in normal aging in healthy men." Diabetes Care 20(2): 135-141.

McAulay, V., I. J. Deary, et al. (2001). "Symptoms of hypoglycaemia in people with diabetes." Diabet Med 18(9): 690-705.

McCarter, R. J., J. M. Hempe, et al. (2004). "Biological variation in HbA1c predicts risk of retinopathy and nephropathy in type 1 diabetes." Diabetes Care 27(6): 1259-1264.

McGowan, K., W. Thomas, et al. (2002). "Spurious reporting of nocturnal hypoglycemia by CGMS in patients with tightly controlled type 1 diabetes." Diabetes Care 25(9): 1499-1503.

Mitrakou, A., C. Fanelli, et al. (1993). "Reversibility of unawareness of hypoglycemia in patients with insulinomas." N Engl J Med 329(12): 834-839.

Mitrakou, A., M. Mokan, et al. (1993). "Influence of plasma glucose rate of decrease on hierarchy of responses to hypoglycemia." J Clin Endocrinol Metab 76(2): 462-465.

Moberg, E., M. Kollind, et al. (1993). "Estimation of blood-glucose variability in patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus." Scand J Clin Lab Invest 53(5): 507-514.

Moberg, E. A., P. E. Lins, et al. (1994). "Variability of blood glucose levels in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus on intensified insulin regimens." Diabete Metab 20(6): 546-552.

Mohseni, S. (2001). "Hypoglycemic neuropathy." Acta Neuropathol 102(5): 413-421.

Mohsin, F., M. E. Craig, et al. (2005). "Discordant trends in microvascular complications in adolescents with type 1 diabetes from 1990 to 2002." Diabetes Care 28(8): 1974-1980.

Molnar, G. D., W. F. Taylor, et al. (1972). "Day-to-day variation of continuously monitored glycaemia: a further measure of diabetic instability." Diabetologia 8(5): 342-348.

Monnier, L., C. Colette, et al. (2008). "Glycemic variability: the third component of the dysglycemia in diabetes. Is it important? How to measure it?" J Diabetes Sci Technol 2(6): 1094-1100.

Muggeo, M., G. Verlato, et al. (1995). "The Verona diabetes study: a population-based survey on known diabetes mellitus prevalence and 5-year all-cause mortality." Diabetologia 38(3): 318-325.

Muggeo, M., G. Zoppini, et al. (2000). "Fasting plasma glucose variability predicts 10-year survival of type 2 diabetic patients: the Verona Diabetes Study." Diabetes Care 23(1): 45-50.

Muhlhauser, I., H. Overmann, et al. (1998). "Risk factors of severe hypoglycaemia in adult patients with Type I diabetes--a prospective population based study." Diabetologia 41(11): 1274-1282.

Muhlhauser, I., G. Toth, et al. (1991). "Severe hypoglycemia in type I diabetic patients with impaired kidney function." Diabetes Care 14(4): 344-346.

Mullarkey C.J, B. M. (1994). Biochemical basis of microvascular disease. Chronic complications of diabetes. W. G. Pickup J.C. Oxford, Blackwell Scientific Publications: 20-29.

Nalysnyk, L., M. Hernandez-Medina, et al. (2010). "Glycaemic variability and complications in patients with diabetes mellitus: evidence from a systematic review of the literature." Diabetes Obes Metab 12(4): 288-298.

Nathan, D. M., D. E. Singer, et al. (1984). "The clinical information value of the glycosylated hemoglobin assay." N Engl J Med 310(6): 341-346.

Nathan, D. M., P. A. Cleary, et al. (2005). "Intensive diabetes treatment and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 1 diabetes." N Engl J Med 353(25): 2643-2653.

Newrick, P. G., T. Cochrane, et al. (1988). "Reduced hyperaemic response under the diabetic neuropathic foot." Diabet Med 5(6): 570-573.

NDR (2009). Nationella Diabetes Registret.

O'Connell, M. A., S. Donath, et al. (2009). "Glycaemic impact of patient-led use of sensorguided pump therapy in type 1 diabetes: a randomised controlled trial." Diabetologia 52(7): 1250-1257.

Oskarsson, P., U. Adamson, et al. (1999). "Long-term follow-up of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus patients with recurrent episodes of severe hypoglycaemia." Diabetes Res Clin Pract 44(3): 165-174.

Oyibo, S. O., Y. D. Prasad, et al. (2002). "The relationship between blood glucose excursions and painful diabetic peripheral neuropathy: a pilot study." Diabet Med 19(10): 870-873.

Parving, H. H., G. C. Viberti, et al. (1983). "Hemodynamic factors in the genesis of diabetic microangiopathy." Metabolism 32(9): 943-949.

Patterson, D., T. Abell, et al. (1999). "A double-blind multicenter comparison of domperidone and metoclopramide in the treatment of diabetic patients with symptoms of gastroparesis." Am J Gastroenterol 94(5): 1230-1234.

Pedersen-Bjergaard, U., B. Agerholm-Larsen, et al. (2001). "Activity of angiotensin-converting enzyme and risk of severe hypoglycaemia in type 1 diabetes mellitus." Lancet 357(9264): 1248-1253.

Pedersen-Bjergaard, U., B. Agerholm-Larsen, et al. (2003). "Prediction of severe hypoglycaemia by angiotensin-converting enzyme activity and genotype in type 1 diabetes." Diabetologia 46(1): 89-96.

Pedersen-Bjergaard, U., S. Pramming, et al. (2004). "Severe hypoglycaemia in 1076 adult patients with type 1 diabetes: influence of risk markers and selection." Diabetes Metab Res Rev 20(6): 479-486.

Pedersen-Bjergaard, U., S. Pramming, et al. (2003). "Recall of severe hypoglycaemia and selfestimated state of awareness in type 1 diabetes." Diabetes Metab Res Rev 19(3): 232-240.

Pennant, M. E., L. J. Bluck, et al. (2008). "Insulin administration and rate of glucose appearance in people with type 1 diabetes." Diabetes Care 31(11): 2183-2187.

Phillips, L. K., C. K. Rayner, et al. (2006). "An update on autonomic neuropathy affecting the gastrointestinal tract." Curr Diab Rep 6(6): 417-423.

Pickup, J., M. Mattock, et al. (2002). "Glycaemic control with continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion compared with intensive insulin injections in patients with type 1 diabetes: metaanalysis of randomised controlled trials." BMJ 324(7339): 705.

Pickup, J. C., H. Keen, et al. (1978). "Continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion: an approach to achieving normoglycaemia." Br Med J 1(6107): 204-207.

Pickup, J. C., G. C. Viberti, et al. (1979). "Clinical application of pre-programmed insulin infusion: continuous subcutaneous insulin therapy with a portable infusion system." Horm Metab Res Suppl(8): 202-204.

Piconi, L., L. Quagliaro, et al. (2006). "Constant and intermittent high glucose enhances endothelial cell apoptosis through mitochondrial superoxide overproduction." Diabetes Metab Res Rev 22(3): 198-203.

Pieber, T. R., I. Eugene-Jolchine, et al. (2000). "Efficacy and safety of HOE 901 versus NPH insulin in patients with type 1 diabetes. The European Study Group of HOE 901 in type 1 diabetes." Diabetes Care 23(2): 157-162.

Pilichiewicz, A. N., T. J. Little, et al. (2006). "Effects of load, and duration, of duodenal lipid on antropyloroduodenal motility, plasma CCK and PYY, and energy intake in healthy men." Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 290(3): R668-677.

Pirart, J. (1978). "Why don't we teach and treat diabetic patients better?" Diabetes Care 1(2): 139-140.

Pirart, J., J. P. Lauvaux, et al. (1978). "Blood sugar and diabetic complications." N Engl J Med 298(20): 1149.

Potter, J., P. Clarke, et al. (1982). "Insulin-induced hypoglycaemia in an accident and emergency department: the tip of an iceberg?" Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 285(6349): 1180-1182.

Pramming, S., B. Thorsteinsson, et al. (1991). "Symptomatic hypoglycaemia in 411 type 1 diabetic patients." Diabet Med 8(3): 217-222.

Raabo, E. and T. C. Terkildsen (1960). "On the enzymatic determination of blood glucose." Scand J Clin Lab Invest 12: 402-407.

Ratner, R. E., I. B. Hirsch, et al. (2000). "Less hypoglycemia with insulin glargine in intensive insulin therapy for type 1 diabetes. U.S. Study Group of Insulin Glargine in Type 1 Diabetes." Diabetes Care 23(5): 639-643.

Reach, G. (2001). "Which threshold to detect hypoglycemia? Value of receiver-operator curve analysis to find a compromise between sensitivity and specificity." Diabetes Care 24(5): 803-804.

Reichard, P. (1992). "Risk factors for progression of microvascular complications in the Stockholm Diabetes Intervention Study (SDIS)." Diabetes Res Clin Pract 16(2): 151-156.

Reichard, P., B. Berglund, et al. (1991). "Intensified conventional insulin treatment retards the microvascular complications of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM): the Stockholm Diabetes Intervention Study (SDIS) after 5 years." J Intern Med 230(2): 101-108.

Reichard, P., A. Britz, et al. (1990). "Metabolic control and complications over 3 years in patients with insulin dependent diabetes (IDDM): the Stockholm Diabetes Intervention Study (SDIS)." J Intern Med 228(5): 511-517.

Reichard, P., A. Britz, et al. (1988). "The Stockholm Diabetes Intervention Study (SDIS): 18 months' results." Acta Med Scand 224(2): 115-122.

Reichard, P., B. Y. Nilsson, et al. (1993). "The effect of long-term intensified insulin treatment on the development of microvascular complications of diabetes mellitus." N Engl J Med 329(5): 304-309.

Reichard, P., M. Pihl, et al. (1996). "Complications in IDDM are caused by elevated blood glucose level: the Stockholm Diabetes Intervention Study (SDIS) at 10-year follow up." Diabetologia 39(12): 1483-1488.

Reichard, P. and U. Rosenqvist (1989). "Nephropathy is delayed by intensified insulin treatment in patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus and retinopathy." J Intern Med 226(2): 81-87.

Rossing, P. (2005). "The changing epidemiology of diabetic microangiopathy in type 1 diabetes." Diabetologia 48(8): 1439-1444.

Rump, A., M. Stahl, et al. (1987). "[173 cases of insulin-induced hypoglycemia admitted to the hospital]." Dtsch Med Wochenschr 112(28-29): 1110-1116.

Schaumberg, D. A., R. J. Glynn, et al. (2005). "Effect of intensive glycemic control on levels of markers of inflammation in type 1 diabetes mellitus in the diabetes control and complications trial." Circulation 111(19): 2446-2453.

Schlichtkrull, J., O. Munck, et al. (1965). "The M-Valve, an Index of Blood-Sugar Control in Diabetics." Acta Med Scand 177: 95-102.

Schutt, M., W. Kern, et al. (2006). "Is the frequency of self-monitoring of blood glucose related to long-term metabolic control? Multicenter analysis including 24,500 patients from 191 centers in Germany and Austria." Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 114(7): 384-388.

Selam, J. L. (2000). "[How to measure glycemic instability?]." Diabetes Metab 26(2): 148-151.

Service, F. J. (1995). "Hypoglycemia." Med Clin North Am 79(1): 1-8.

Service, F. J., G. D. Molnar, et al. (1970). "Mean amplitude of glycemic excursions, a measure of diabetic instability." Diabetes 19(9): 644-655.

Service, F. J. and P. C. O'Brien (2001). "The relation of glycaemia to the risk of development and progression of retinopathy in the Diabetic Control and Complications Trial." Diabetologia 44(10): 1215-1220.

Service, F. J., P. C. O'Brien, et al. (1987). "Measurements of glucose control." Diabetes Care 10(2): 225-237.

Shireman, T. I., A. Reichard, et al. (2010). "Quality of diabetes care for adults with developmental disabilities." Disabil Health J 3(3): 179-185.

Siegelaar, S. E., F. Holleman, et al. (2010). "Glucose variability; does it matter?" Endocr Rev 31(2): 171-182.

Siegelaar, S. E., E. S. Kilpatrick, et al. (2009). "Glucose variability does not contribute to the development of peripheral and autonomic neuropathy in type 1 diabetes: data from the DCCT." Diabetologia 52(10): 2229-2232.

Sjobom, N. C., U. Adamson, et al. (1989). "The prevalence of impaired glucose counterregulation during an insulin-infusion test in insulin-treated diabetic patients prone to severe hypoglycaemia." Diabetologia 32(11): 818-825.

Sokolova, I. A., E. B. Manukhina, et al. (1985). "Rarefication of the arterioles and capillary network in the brain of rats with different forms of hypertension." Microvasc Res 30(1): 1-9.

Stephenson, J. M., P. Kempler, et al. (1996). "Is autonomic neuropathy a risk factor for severe hypoglycaemia? The EURODIAB IDDM Complications Study." Diabetologia 39(11): 1372-1376.

Sterky, G., G. Holmgren, et al. (1978). "The incidence of diabetes mellitus in Swedish children 1970--1975." Acta Paediatr Scand 67(2): 139-143.

Sugumar, A., A. Singh, et al. (2008). "A systematic review of the efficacy of domperidone for the treatment of diabetic gastroparesis." Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 6(7): 726-733.

Tamborlane, W. V., R. W. Beck, et al. (2008). "Continuous glucose monitoring and intensive treatment of type 1 diabetes." N Engl J Med 359(14): 1464-1476.

Tattersall, R. (1999). Frequency, causes and treatment of hypoglycaemia. Hypoglycaemia in Clinical Diabetes B. Frier and B. Fisher. Chichester, UK, John Wiley & Sons Ltd: 55-88.

ter Braak, E. W., A. M. Appelman, et al. (2000). "Clinical characteristics of type 1 diabetic patients with and without severe hypoglycemia." Diabetes Care 23(10): 1467-1471.

Tooke, J. E. (1989). "Microcirculation and diabetes." Br Med Bull 45(1): 206-223.

Tooke, J. E., Shore, A.C (1994). The regulation of microvascular function in diabetes mellitus. Chronic complications of diabetes. W. G. Pickup J.C. Oxford, Blackwell Scientific Publications: 34-41.

Waden, J., C. Forsblom, et al. (2009). "A1C variability predicts incident cardiovascular events, microalbuminuria, and overt diabetic nephropathy in patients with type 1 diabetes." Diabetes 58(11): 2649-2655.

Walmsley, D., K. K. Hampton, et al. (1991). "Contrasting fibrinolytic responses in type 1 (insulin-dependent) and type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes." Diabet Med 8(10): 954-959.

van den Brandt, J., H. J. Fischer, et al. (2010). "Type 1 diabetes in BioBreeding rats is critically linked to an imbalance between Th17 and regulatory T cells and an altered TCR repertoire." J Immunol 185(4): 2285-2294.

Weinzimer, S. A., C. Ternand, et al. (2008). "A randomized trial comparing continuous subcutaneous insulin infusion of insulin aspart versus insulin lispro in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes." Diabetes Care 31(2): 210-215.

Veneman, T., A. Mitrakou, et al. (1993). "Induction of hypoglycemia unawareness by asymptomatic nocturnal hypoglycemia." Diabetes 42(9): 1233-1237.

White, N. H., H. P. Chase, et al. (2009). "Comparison of glycemic variability associated with insulin glargine and intermediate-acting insulin when used as the basal component of multiple daily injections for adolescents with type 1 diabetes." Diabetes Care 32(3): 387-393.

von Dobeln, A., U. Adamson, et al. (2005). "Nocturnal differences in subcutaneous tissue glucose between forearm and abdominal sites during continuous glucose monitoring in normal subjects." Diabetes Metab 31(4 Pt 1): 347-352.

Xie, W., D. Xing, et al. (2005). "A new tactic to treat postprandial hyperlipidemia in diabetic rats with gastroparesis by improving gastrointestinal transit." Eur J Pharmacol 510(1-2): 113-120.

Zatz, R. and B. M. Brenner (1986). "Pathogenesis of diabetic microangiopathy. The hemodynamic view." Am J Med 80(3): 443-453.